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The directors of the company are responsible for the maintenance 

of adequate accounting records and the preparation and integrity 

of the annual financial statements and related information. The 

financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and the 

requirements of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended, 

and the JSE Limited Listings Requirements. The group’s external 

auditors, Deloitte & Touche, have audited the financial statements 

and their unmodified report appears on pages 60 to 63.

The directors are also responsible for the systems of internal 

control. These are designed to provide reasonable, but not 

absolute, assurance as to the reliability of the financial statements, 

and to adequately safeguard, verify and maintain accountability of 

assets, and to prevent and detect material misstatement and loss. 

The systems are implemented and monitored by suitably trained 

personnel with an appropriate segregation of authority and 

duties. Other than the reported fraud as shown in note 10, 

nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that 

any material breakdown in the functioning of these controls, 

procedures and systems has occurred during the year under 

review.

The annual financial statements are prepared on a going concern 

basis. Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to 

indicate that the group and company will not remain a going 

concern for the foreseeable future.

The preparation of the group’s consolidated financial statements 

for the year ended 31 December 2017 was supervised by 

JDR Oesch CA(SA), the group’s financial director.

The annual financial statements set out on pages 64 to 117 were 

approved by the board of directors on 16 March 2018 and are 

signed on its behalf by

    

CH Boulle RJ Douglas 
Chairman Chief executive officer

 
JDR Oesch
Group financial director

CERTIFICATE BY GROUP COMPANY SECRETARY
I certify that ADvTECH Limited has lodged with the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission (CIPC) all such returns as are 

required of a public company in terms of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, as amended, and that all such returns are true, correct and 

up to date.

DM Dickson 

Group company secretary

16 March 2018

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL REPORTING
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
to the shareholders of ADvTECH Limited

Report on the audit of the 
consolidated and separate  
financial statements
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial 

statements of ADvTECH Limited and its subsidiaries (“the group”) 

set out on pages 71 to 117, which comprise the statements of 

financial position as at 31 December 2017, and the statements of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statements 

of changes in equity and the statements of cash flows for the 

year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements 

present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and 

separate financial position of the group as at 31 December 2017 

and its consolidated and separate financial performance and 

consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs) and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 

Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those 

standards are further described in the auditor’s responsibilities 

for the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements section of our report. We are independent of the 

group in accordance with the Independent Regulatory Board for 

Auditors Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors (IRBA 

Code) and other independence requirements applicable to 

performing audits of financial statements in South Africa. We 

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with the IRBA Code and in accordance with other ethical 

requirements applicable to performing audits in South Africa. 

The IRBA Code is consistent with the International Ethics 

Standards Board for Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional 

Accountants (Parts A and B). We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 

judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements of the current 

period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 

of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in 

forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters. There were no key audit matters 

identified for the separate financial statements.

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Valuation of goodwill and indefinite useful life intangible assets

Goodwill and indefinite useful life intangible assets comprise 

26% (2016: 27%) of the total assets of the group. These assets 

have been recognised in the consolidated statement of 

financial position as a consequence of acquisitions made by 

the group.

As required by the applicable accounting standards, the 

directors conduct annual impairment tests to assess the 

recoverability of the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite 

useful life intangible assets. This is performed by comparing 

the carrying amount of these assets to their recoverable 

amount. The recoverable amount is based on value in use 

which is calculated using discounted cash flow models, as 

disclosed in note 14 of the financial statements. There are a 

number of key sensitive judgements made by the directors in 

determining the inputs into these models which included:

• Revenue growth rates;

• Operating margins; and

• Discount rates applied to the projected cash flows.

Accordingly, the valuation of goodwill and indefinite useful 

life intangible assets is considered to be a key audit matter.

We focused our testing of the impairment of goodwill and 

indefinite useful life intangible assets on the key assumptions 

made by the directors. Our procedures included:

• Design and implementation testing of key controls;

• Analysing the future projected cash flows used in the models 

to determine whether they are reasonable and supportable 

given the current macroeconomic climate and expected 

future performance of the cash generating units to which 

the goodwill and indefinite useful life intangible assets relate;

• Comparing the projected cash flows, including the 

assumptions relating to revenue growth rates and operating 

margins, against historical performance to test the 

reasonableness of the directors’ projections; and

• Evaluating the inputs used by the directors in determining 

the discount rate against independent sources.

We found the assumptions used by the directors to be 

appropriate based on historical performance, future outlook 

and current circumstances. 

We considered the goodwill and indefinite useful life intangible 

assets disclosures to be appropriate.
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Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in the audit

Valuation of allowance for doubtful debts

The group reflected R381 million (2016: R317 million) worth of 

receivables as at 31 December 2017 as disclosed in note 21 to 

the financial statements against which an allowance for 

doubtful debts of R173 million (2016: R136 million) has been 

recognised. 

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the group is 

required by accounting standards to determine and recognise 

an appropriate allowance for doubtful debts. Due to the 

nature of the group’s education operations, debtors are 

expected to be settled within the financial and academic year 

they arise and therefore debtors outstanding beyond this 

period would be at risk of non-recovery. Determining the 

value of provisioning required against the debtors’ book 

requires a high degree of judgement and estimate by the 

directors.  

In determining the allowance for doubtful debts, the 

director’s valuation utilises a number of key judgements 

which include the projection of the amount and timing of 

future cash inflows related to the receivables.

Accordingly, the determination of the allowance for doubtful 

debts is considered to be a key audit matter.

Our audit procedures focused on the evaluation of the key 

judgements and estimates used in the directors’ determination 

of the allowance for doubtful debts. The procedures on key 

judgements and estimates included:

• Design and implementation testing of key controls;

• Comparison of historical projected cash inflows to actual 

inflows to assess the accuracy and reasonableness of the 

directors’ projections and the assumption that historical 

collections are a reasonable basis for determining future 

collections;

• Analysis of the provision at a brand level as a proportion of 

total debtors and revenue to identify and investigate unusual 

fluctuations;

• Comparison of the ageing of receivables over a period of 

time to identify unusual trends;

• Analysing projected cash flows to determine if they are 

supportable given current macroeconomic conditions and 

future expected performance; and

• Testing the mathematical accuracy of the model to ensure 

the ratio of historical collections per aging bracket of debt 

has been accurately applied to current year debt.

We found the judgements applied and the assumptions used 

by the directors to be appropriate based on historical 

performance, anticipated future outlook and current 

circumstances. We considered the disclosure of the allowance 

for doubtful debts to be adequate.

Capitalisation of property costs

Note 12 of the financial statements discloses that the group 

made significant additions to land and buildings of 

R521 million (2016: R245 million). Included in this is a 

significant amount related to new construction of and 

upgrades to existing buildings.

The high level of capital expenditure requires the directors 

to apply judgement in considering the nature of costs 

incurred to ensure that capitalisation of property, plant and 

equipment meets the recognition criteria in terms of IAS 16, 

‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ (“IAS 16”), in relation to assets 

constructed by the group, and has therefore been identified 

as a key audit matter.

Our audit work included assessing the nature of property costs 

capitalised by the group to test the validity of amounts 

capitalised and evaluating whether assets capitalised meet the 

recognition criteria set out in IAS 16.

Furthermore we examined the method on which the directors 

accrued for costs where construction of an asset occurs over an 

extended period of time with reference to project reports and 

other supporting evidence reports.

The capitalisation of assets was assessed to be appropriate.
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Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other 

information comprises the directors’ report, the audit committee’s 

report and the company secretary’s certificate, as required by 

the Companies Act of South Africa, which we obtained prior to 

the date of this auditor’s report.  The other information does not 

include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 

report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial 

statements does not cover the other information and we do not 

express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion 

thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 

and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the consolidated and separate 

financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed on the other 

information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s 

report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 

other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have 

nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated and 

separate financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 

presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 

statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South 

Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 

necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 

separate financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial statements, 

the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and 

company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 

going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either 

intend to liquidate the group and/or company or to cease 

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 

whether the consolidated and separate financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 

opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 

not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably 

be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional 

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout 

the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to 

those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 

higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, 

or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the 

audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 

opinion on the effectiveness of the group’s and the company’s 

internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 

going concern basis of accounting and based on the audit 

evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 

on the group’s and company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the 

related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, 

if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 

conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 

conditions may cause the group or company to cease to 

continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 

consolidated and separate financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated and separate 

financial statements represent the underlying transactions 

and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 

financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the group to express an opinion on the consolidated 

financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among 

other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
to the shareholders of ADvTECH Limited (continued)
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significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 

internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we 

have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 

and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 

our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we 

determine those matters that were of most significance in the 

audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current 

period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 

these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 

precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 

extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 

should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 

consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 

outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 

Number 39475 dated 4 December 2016, we report that Deloitte 

& Touche has been the auditor of ADvTECH Limited for 16 years.

Deloitte & Touche 

Registered Auditor 

Per: H Loonat 

Partner

17 March 2018

National Executive: *LL Bam Chief Executive Officer; 

*TMM Jordan Deputy Chief Executive Officer; Clients & 

Industries; *MJ Jarvis Chief Operating Officer; *AF Mackie  

Audit & Assurance; *N Sing Risk Advisory; *NB Kader  

Africa Tax & Legal; TP Pillay Consulting; S Gwala BPS;  

*JK Mazzocco Talent & Transformation; MG Dicks Risk 

Independence & Legal; *TJ Brown, Chairman of the Board.

* Partner and Registered Auditor.

A full list of partners and directors is available on request.

B-BBEE rating: Level 1 contributor in terms of the DTI Generic 

Scorecard as per the amended Codes of Good Practice.

Associate of Deloitte Africa, a Member of Deloitte Touche 

Tohmatsu Limited.
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• matters relating to financial accounting, accounting policies, 

reporting and disclosure;

• internal and external audit policy;

• activities, scope, adequacy and effectiveness of the internal 

audit function and audit plans;

• reviewing and approving external audit plans, findings, 

problems, reports and fees;

• ensuring that non-audit services will not be obtained from the 

external auditors where the provision of such services could 

impair audit independence;

• reviewing and recommending the approval of interim and 

annual results; and

• reviewing, considering and making recommendations 

regarding distributions or dividend payments to shareholders.

Internal control
The board and Exco are ultimately responsible for overseeing the 

establishment of effective internal control systems to provide 

reasonable assurance that the group’s financial and non-financial 

objectives are achieved. 

Internal control is implemented through the proper delegation 

of responsibility within a clearly defined approval framework, 

through accounting procedures and adequate segregation of 

duties. The group’s internal accounting controls and systems are 

designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity of 

the group’s financial statements and to safeguard, verify and 

maintain accountability for all its assets.

The internal audit department monitors the operation of the 

internal controls and systems and reports their findings and 

recommendations to management and the audit committee. 

Corrective action is taken by management to address control 

deficiencies and improve systems where opportunities are 

identified. 

The internal control and risk management process is ongoing 

and is effective until the date of approval of the annual financial 

statements.

Integrated annual report 2017
The committee has evaluated the integrated annual report for 

the year ended 31 December 2017 and is satisfied that it 

complies in all material respects with the requirements of the 

Companies Act, the IIRC’s International (IR) Framework, King IV, 

IFRS and the JSE Listings Requirements.

Internal audit
The group’s internal audit department has a specific mandate 

from the audit committee to independently appraise the 

adequacy and effectiveness of the group’s internal controls, 

governance and risk management processes. The department, 

headed by the group internal audit manager, reports functionally 

to the chair of the audit committee and on an administrative 

basis to the group FD with direct access to the group CEO.

The audit committee is an independent statutory committee 

appointed in terms of Section 94(7) of the Companies Act, with 

further duties being delegated to the committee by the board. 

This report covers both sets of duties.

Membership and meetings
The committee members are all non-executive directors and 

satisfy the requirements of independence as required by the 

Companies Act. The members of the audit committee have the 

necessary financial literacy, skills and experience as a whole to 

effectively execute their duties.  

The board recommends that the following directors, who are 

current members of the committee, stand for re-election by 

shareholders at the annual general meeting (AGM) on 31 May 

2018 to hold office until the following AGM:

• KDM Warburton (chairman);

• BM Gourley; and

• JS Chimhanzi.

CH Boulle, chairman of the board, is a member of the audit 

committee but will step down at the next AGM in accordance 

with the recommendation of King IV. CH Boulle’s skills and 

experience as a commercial attorney have proven invaluable to 

the audit committee and he will attend meetings from time to 

time, by invitation from the chairman of the committee. 

The committee meets at least three times per year as required by 

its terms of reference. Meetings are attended by the internal and 

external auditors, the chief executive officer (CEO) and group 

financial director, as well as other board members and invitees as 

considered appropriate by the committee’s chairman. 

The audit committee’s terms of reference provide for confidential 

meetings between committee members and the internal and 

external auditors without executive management being present. 

The internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to 

the committee.

Role and responsibilities
The audit committee’s duties and responsibilities are a 

combination of statutory duties and such other oversight of the 

effectiveness of the internal and external assurance providers, 

information technology (IT), compliance and finance functions. 

It also assists the board in discharging its responsibilities to 

ensure that proper accounting records are maintained, oversees 

the financial reporting process and ensures compliance with 

accounting policies, group policies, legal requirements and 

internal controls.

The committee is responsible for the appointment of the 

auditors, agreeing fees payable to them and settling on the 

terms of their engagement, and provides recommendations to 

the board with regard to:

• ensuring compliance with applicable legislation and the 

requirements of regulatory authorities;

AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT
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Reporting
The committee has discharged all its responsibilities and carried 

out all its functions as contained in its terms of reference and as 

required by the Companies Act. In particular, the committee:

• reviewed the interim and annual financial statements (and 

press announcements) and recommended them for adoption 

by the board;

• approved the internal audit terms of reference and audit 

plans;

• received and reviewed reports from both internal and external 

auditors, which included commentary on the effectiveness of 

the internal control environment, systems and processes and, 

where appropriate, made recommendations to the board;

• reviewed the independence of the external auditors, Deloitte 

& Touche, and recommended them for re-appointment as 

auditors for the 2018 financial year at the AGM, with H Loonat 

as the designated auditor;

• reviewed the external auditor’s audit report and key audit 

matters included;

• determined the fees to be paid to the external auditors and 

their terms of engagement;

• concluded that, together with mandated partner rotation and 

policies and procedures in force mitigate the risk of familiarity 

between the external auditor and management;

• determined the nature and extent of non-audit services that 

may be provided by the external auditors and pre-approved 

the contract terms for the provision of non-audit services by 

the external auditors; and

• received and dealt appropriately with any complaints, from 

within or outside the group, relating to the accounting 

practices and internal controls of the group, to the content or 

auditing of its financial statements, the internal financial 

controls or any related matter, potential violations of the law 

and questionable accounting or auditing matters.

On behalf of the audit committee

KDM Warburton

Chairman: Audit committee

15 March 2018

The internal audit coverage plan, which is subject to approval by 

the audit committee and updated annually, covers all major risk 

areas as identified and assessed by internal audit and the group’s 

risk management process. This ensures that the audit coverage 

is focused on and identifies areas of high risk.

Internal audit provides an annual written assessment of the 

system of internal financial controls to the board and the audit 

committee.  Other than the fraudulent activity announced late 

in the financial year, no matters have come to the attention of 

the audit committee and/or internal audit which may have a 

material impact on the annual financial statements.

Accounting and auditing
The directors are responsible for ensuring that the group 

maintain adequate records and report on the financial position 

of the group and the results of activities with accuracy and 

reliability. Financial reporting procedures are applied at all levels 

in the group to meet this responsibility. The external auditors are 

responsible for independently auditing and reporting on these 

financial statements in accordance with the various IFRSs.

The external auditors, Deloitte & Touche, were given unrestricted 

access to all financial records and related data, including minutes 

of all meetings of shareholders, the board of directors, Exco and 

committees of the board. 

The external auditors provide an independent assessment of 

systems of internal financial control to the extent necessary, for 

the audit, and express an independent opinion on whether the 

financial statements are fairly presented.

The external and internal auditors have unrestricted access to 

the audit committee to ensure that their independence is in no 

way impaired. At least once annually (but generally prior to 

every meeting), the audit committee chairman meets 

independently with representatives of internal and external 

audit. Time is also set aside at least once a year (but generally at 

the end of every meeting) for the committee to meet 

independently of executive management with representatives 

of the internal and external auditors.

Overall, the audit committee is satisfied with the independence 

of Deloitte & Touche, the quality of the audit process and the 

extent of the non-audit services provided.  

Finance function
The audit committee has considered and is satisfied with the 

continued appropriateness of the expertise and experience of 

the group FD, JDR Oesch CA(SA), and the finance function.
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Compliance with King IV
The ADvTECH group is committed to the principles of effective 

corporate governance and adheres to the principles of King IV. 

A detailed analysis of the group’s compliance to the principles 

can be found on the website at www.advtech.co.za.

Special resolutions adopted by  
the company
The company passed the following special resolutions at the 

AGM of shareholders held on 31 May 2017:

• non-executive directors’ fees;

• authority to make loans or give financial assistance to 

subsidiaries and related or inter-related companies;

• general authority to acquire the company’s own shares;

• approval of ADvTECH management share incentive plan (MSI);

• to phase out and replace the existing share incentive scheme 

2010;

• allocation of unallocated, relinquished and lapsed option 

shares for utilisation under the MSI;

• amendment of the trust deed of the trust in order to allow the 

trust to utilise/sell/transfer (i) the unallocated shares  

(ii) relinquished shares; and (iii) lapsed options shares for the 

purpose and benefit of the MSI;

• issue of shares for the purpose of the MSI; and

• authorisation of any one director or the company secretary to 

do all such things and sign all such documents and take all 

such action as they consider necessary to implement the 

special resolutions.

Special resolutions adopted by 
subsidiary companies
Special resolutions in terms of section 45 of the Companies Act, 

71 of 2008, as amended (the Act), were passed by certain 

subsidiaries of the company with general authority to provide 

financial assistance to related and inter-related companies. No 

other special resolutions were passed by subsidiaries.

Directorate
Details of directors appear on page 44 of this report. 

Dr JS Chimhanzi and Dr JM Hofmeyr were appointed as 

independent non-executive directors of the board with effect 

from 1 January 2017. Their appointments were confirmed by 

shareholders at the AGM on 31 May 2017.

In accordance with the provisions of the company’s 

Memorandum of Incorporation (MoI), one third of all non-

executive directors will retire by rotation at the forthcoming 

AGM. JD Jansen, SC Masie and SA Zinn being eligible, have 

offered themselves for re-election.  Brief biographical notes in 

respect of each director can be found on page 44 of this report.

Your directors have pleasure in presenting their report on the 

activities of the group and company for the year ended 

31 December 2017.

Nature of business
The ADvTECH group is one of the largest diversified education, 

training and placement groups in South Africa. ADvTECH Limited 

(registration number 1990/001119/06) is listed in the Specialised 

Consumer Services sector of the JSE Limited (JSE) (JSE code: 

ADH and ISIN number: ZAE 0000 31035). The schools division 

offers quality pre-primary, primary and secondary education, 

while the tertiary division offers quality education on diploma, 

degree and postgraduate levels via face-to-face and distance 

learning. The resourcing division is a significant force in niche 

areas of the placement industry, especially in IT, finance and 

engineering.

Financial results
The results for the year ended 31 December 2017 are set out 

herein.

Stated capital
The number of shares in issue during the year under review:

Number of shares in issue at 31 December 2016 544 368 530

Number of shares in issue at 31 December 2017 544 368 530

There were no repurchases of shares in the company by the 

group during the year. All shares are fully paid up and none are 

encumbered.

Dividends
The board is pleased to announce the declaration of a final gross 

dividend of 19.0 cents (2016: 19.0 cents) per ordinary share in 

respect of the year ended 31 December 2017. This brings the full 

year dividend to 34.0 cents (2016: 32.5 cents) per share.

This is a dividend as defined in the Income Tax Act, 58 of 1962, as 

amended, and is payable from income reserves. The South 

African dividend taxation (DT) rate is 20%. The net amount 

payable to shareholders who are not exempt from DT is 

15.2 cents per share, while it is 19.0 cents per share to those 

shareholders who are exempt from DT. The total dividend 

amount payable is R103.4 million.

Post-balance sheet events
The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance 

occurring between the date of the statement of financial 

position and the date of this report that materially affects the 

results of the group for the year ended 31 December 2017 or the 

financial position at that date.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2017
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Interests, share options, MSI and emoluments of directors and 
prescribed officers
Interests of directors and prescribed officers

As at 31 December 2017, the directors’ and prescribed officers’ beneficial and non-beneficial, direct and indirect interests in the issued 

share capital of the company were 2% (2016: 2%) in aggregate. The interests of directors and prescribed officers are as follows:

Beneficial Non-beneficial

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016

Directors

CH Boulle 3 549 3 549  –    –    –    –    –    –   

RJ  Douglas 185 278 95 278  –    –    –    –    –    –   

BM Gourley –  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

JD Jansen –  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

SC Masie –  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

JDR Oesch 1 993 895  1 902 228  –    –    –    –    37 312  37 312 

KDM Warburton –  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

SA Zinn –  –    –    –    –    –    –    –   

Prescribed officers

MD Aitken 10 900 – – – – – – –

DL Honey 9 117 289  9 090 622  –    –    –    –    128 388  128 388 

A Isaakidis 1 924 975  1 861 754  –    –    –    –    –   –

Totals  13 235 886  12 953 431  –    –    –    –    165 700  165 700 

At the date that this financial report was prepared, none of the current directors or prescribed officers of the group have disposed of 

any of the shares held by them as at 31 December 2017.
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Share options of directors and prescribed officers

The directors and prescribed officers held the following share options at 31 December 2017:

Share options as at

31 December 2016

Share options

granted during

the year

Share options 

forfeited during 

the year#

Share options exercised

during the year
Share

options

as at

31 December

2017

NumberNumber

Exercise

price

(cents) Number

Exercise

price

(cents) Number

Exercise

price

(cents) Number

Market

price at

exercise

date

(cents)

Benefit

arising on

exercise

of options

(R)

Directors

RJ Douglas 300 000 580 300 000

80 000 664 40 000 1 600 374 400 40 000

125 000 820 41 667 820 83 333

150 000 1 260 50 000 1 260 50 000 1 600 170 000 50 000

166 600 1 696 111 067 1 696 55 533

JDR Oesch 91 667 575 91 667 1 451 803 003 –

30 000 580 30 000

80 000 664 40 000 1 567 361 211 40 000

83 334 820 41 667 820 41 667

150 000 1 260 50 000 1 260 50 000 1 567 153 513 50 000

123 300 1 696 82 200 1 696 41 100

Prescribed 

officers

MD Aitken 35 000 1 696 23 333 1 696 11 667

DL Honey 91 667 575 91 667 1 575 916 670 –

40 000 580 40 000

80 000 664 40 000 1 565 360 400 40 000

66 667 820 33 333 820 33 334

120 000 1 260 40 000 1 260 80 000

123 300 1 696 82 200 1 696 41 100

A Isaakidis 91 667 575 91 667 1 577 918 503 –

40 000 580 40 000

80 000 664 40 000 1 565 360 400 40 000

83 334 820 83 334

150 000 1 260 150 000

41 100 1 859 41 100

2 381 536 41 100 555 467 535 001 4 418 100 1 332 168

# Share options forfeited to participate in the new management share incentive scheme (MSI).

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)
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MSI of directors and prescribed officers

A new management share incentive scheme was implemented during the year. The directors and prescribed officers were awarded the 

following share awards at 31 December 2017:

Share awards 

as at 

31 December 

2016

Share awards

 awarded 

during the year

Share awards 

vested during the year

Share awards 

as at 

31 December

 2017 

Number Number Number

 Benefit arising 

on vesting 

of awards 

R    Number 

Directors

RJ Douglas  246 806  246 806 

JDR Oesch  140 105  140 105 

Prescribed officers

MD Aitken 128 624  128 624 

DL Honey 140 007  140 007 

–   655 542 – –  655 542   

Emoluments of directors and prescribed officers

Emoluments paid to directors and prescribed officers of the group (excluding gains on share options exercised) for the year ended 

31 December 2017, are set out below:

Fees

R

Salary

R

Bonus*

R

Expense

allowances

R

Provident

fund

contributions

R

Consulting

fees

R

Total

2017

R

Total

2016

R

Executive

RJ Douglas 3 489 623 180 000 467 877  4 137 500  7 169 000 

JDR Oesch 2 472 344 150 000 334 349  2 956 693  5 004 126 

Total executive  5 961 967 –  330 000  802 226  7 094 193  12 173 126 

Prescribed officers

MD Aitken  2 225 542  246 792  175 916  2 648 250 –

DL Honey  2 470 948  202 212  323 206  2 996 366  3 987 374 

A Isaakidis  2 786 837  212 040  2 998 877  4 434 063 

Total prescribed 

officers  7 483 327 –  661 044  499 122  8 643 493  8 421 437 

Non-executive

CH Boulle  933 068  933 068  821 167 

BM Gourley  811 142  100 000  911 142  778 829 

JD Jansen  478 497  478 497  413 991 

J Hofmeyr**  411 370  411 370 –

JS Chimhanzi**  416 238  416 238 –

SC Masie  381 739  381 739  330 007 

KDM Warburton  659 619  659 619  587 574 

SA Zinn  486 771  486 771  460 978 

Total non-executive  4 578 444  100 000  4 678 444  3 392 546 

* Refer to remuneration committee report for details of the executive bonus scheme.
** Appointed as director from 1 January 2017.

No director’s fees were paid to executive directors during 2017.
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Auditors
Deloitte & Touche, who have been the auditors of the group 

since 2002, continued in office as auditors of the company and 

its subsidiaries during the year under review. The 2017 audit is 

the second audit under the management of H Loonat, the lead 

independent external auditor.

The audit committee has nominated Deloitte & Touche for re-

appointment as auditors of the group and, at the AGM, 

shareholders will be requested to re-appoint them as the 

independent external auditors of the company and its 

subsidiaries, and to confirm H Loonat as the lead independent 

external auditor.

Company secretary
The company secretary is DM Dickson who was appointed on  

22 June 2017. The company secretary’s address, as well as the 

address of the registered office of the company, is:

Business address  Postal address

ADvTECH House PO Box 2369

Inanda Greens Office Park Randburg

54 Wierda Road West  2125

Wierda Valley   Email address:

Sandton groupsec@advtech.co.za

2196

Acquisitions
The group acquired Glenwood House School, the University of 

Africa Group (51% holding), Elkanah House School, The Private 

Hotel School (80% holding), Summit College and Greenwood 

Bay College during the year under review. All acquisitions are in 

line with the published expansion programme. Further details 

on these acquisitions are detailed in note 34 on pages 104 to 107.

All acquisitions are fully held except where otherwise stated.

Glenwood House (George)

Glenwood House School strengthens ADvTECH’s position in the 

Western Cape, joining Abbotts College which has two campuses 

in the province. The traditional school features three pillars: 

sport, academic and culture, built on social responsibility and 

Christian principles. The school offers boarding facilities, for 

students who enjoy a home away from home, in an environment 

supervised by qualified and dedicated staff.

University of Africa group (Zambia)

The University of Africa group is a private open distance learning 

tertiary institution with an expanding portfolio of faculties and 

programmes, ranging from diplomas to PHD’s. As a pan African 

university, the university’s mission is to respond to the actual and 

realistic needs of students who want to empower themselves, 

their families, communities and countries.

Elkanah House (Bloubergstrand)

Elkanah House strives to create a relaxed, homely, diverse and 

challenging learning environment, which follows Christian 

teaching to empower students to develop to their full potential.

The Private Hotel School (Stellenbosch)

The Private Hotel School is a leading hotel, hospitality and 

culinary school based in Stellenbosch and Johannesburg. The 

curriculum is taught through innovative academic methods and 

provides practical training and opportunities with respected 

industry partners.

Summit College (Midrand)

Summit College delivers an overall educational experience that 

effectively prepares learners for citizenship and allows learners to 

unlock their individual full potential. The school provides 

inclusive co-educational learning in a nurturing environment for 

Grades 0000 to 12.

Greenwood Bay College (Plettenberg Bay)

Greenwood Bay College is a secular school with a modern, 

forward-looking approach to education. With the focus on 

manners, integrity, trust and self-discipline, the school runs from 

a toddler class, through Grades 000 to 12.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)



71ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT 2017

Percentage

increase/

(decrease)

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

Revenue 22% 4 086.9 3 353.1

Schools 14% 1 866.3 1 643.7

Tertiary 26% 1 580.2 1 252.5

Resourcing 40% 644.3 460.9

Intra group revenue (3.9) (4.0)

Earnings before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) 7% 795.4 740.6

Schools (9%) 384.0 421.4

Tertiary 41% 382.6 270.9

Resourcing 41% 41.1 29.1

Litigation settlement – 23.5

Litigation costs – (2.3)

Corporate action costs (12.3) (2.0)

Depreciation and amortisation 17% 155.3 132.5

Schools 12% 85.1 76.0

Tertiary 29% 61.2 47.6

Resourcing 1% 9.0 8.9

Operating profit before interest 5% 640.1 608.1

Schools (13%) 298.9 345.4

Tertiary 44% 321.4 223.3

Resourcing 59% 32.1 20.2

Litigation settlement – 23.5

Litigation costs – (2.3)

Corporate action costs (12.3) (2.0)

Property, plant and equipment and proprietary technology systems 26% 3 575.9 2 834.0

Schools 24% 2 727.3 2 193.6

Tertiary 33% 841.0 632.8

Resourcing 0% 7.6 7.6

Current assets 8% 457.3 422.7

Schools 31% 207.5 158.1

Tertiary (11%) 186.2 208.4

Resourcing 13% 63.6 56.2

Total liabilities 36% 2 678.7 1 968.1

Schools 38% 1 938.3 1 403.0

Tertiary 28% 644.3 504.6

Resourcing 59% 96.1 60.5

Capital expenditure 98% 718.0 361.8

Schools 93% 519.8 269.0

Tertiary 117% 195.0 90.0

Resourcing 14% 3.2 2.8

CONSOLIDATED SEGMENTAL REPORT
for the year ended 31 December 2017
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Notes

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

Revenue 4 4 086.9 3 353.1

Placement cost of sales (368.0) (213.9)

Staff costs 5 (1 755.9) (1 467.4)

Rent and occupancy costs (285.3) (226.3)

Other operating expenses (882.3) (704.9)

Earnings before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and Amortisation (EBITDA) 795.4 740.6

Schools 384.0 421.4

Tertiary 382.6 270.9

Resourcing 41.1 29.1

Litigation settlement – 23.5

Litigation costs – (2.3)

Corporate action costs (12.3) (2.0)

Depreciation and amortisation 5 (155.3) (132.5)

Operating profit before interest 5 640.1 608.1

Net finance costs paid (99.1) (81.7)

Interest received 6.1 3.9 12.6

Finance costs 6.2 (103.0) (94.3)

Profit before taxation 541.0 526.4

Taxation 7 (161.0) (148.5)

Profit for the year 380.0 377.9

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the parent 369.3 372.4

Non-controlling interests 10.7 5.5

380.0 377.9

Earnings per share

Basic (cents) 8 69.1 70.9

Diluted (cents) 8 69.0 70.8

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

Profit for the year 380.0 377.9

Other comprehensive income, net of income taxation

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Exchange differences on translating foreign operations (6.4) (6.3)

Total comprehensive income for the year 373.6 371.6

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the parent 363.6 366.1

Non-controlling interests 10.0 5.5

373.6 371.6
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2017

Notes

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

Assets

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 12 3 511.8 2 788.7

Proprietary technology systems 13 64.1 45.3

Goodwill 14 1 305.3 1 170.1

Intangible assets 15 208.3 206.6

Investment 19 12.0 12.0

5 101.5 4 222.7

Current assets

Inventories 20 8.0 6.7

Trade and other receivables 21 307.1 235.6

Prepayments 32.3 52.2

Bank balances and cash 22 109.9 128.2

457.3 422.7

Total assets 5 558.8 4 645.4

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

Stated capital 24 1 481.9 1 481.9

Share incentive reserve 23.6 25.3

Foreign currency translation reserve (0.8) 5.6

Shares held by the Share Incentive Trust 16 (39.3) (57.8)

Retained earnings 1 383.3 1 196.3

Non-controlling interests 31.4 26.0

Total equity 2 880.1 2 677.3

Non-current liabilities

Long-term bank loans 25 751.5 758.0

Deferred taxation liabilities 18 100.1 94.1

Acquisition liabilities 28 49.0 –

900.6 852.1

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term bank loans 25 12.2 31.1

Short-term bank loan 26 750.0 425.0

Trade and other payables 27 382.1 338.1

Taxation 6.3 8.3

Fees received in advance and deposits 411.8 287.5

Shareholders for capital distribution 0.8 0.8

Shareholders for dividend 1.6 1.0

Bank overdraft 22 213.3 24.2

1 778.1 1 116.0

Total equity and liabilities 5 558.8 4 645.4
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Notes

Stated

capital

R’m

Share

incentive

reserve

R’m

Foreign

currency

translation

reserve

R’m

Shares

held by

the Share

Incentive

Trust

R’m

Retained

earnings

R’m

Non-

controlling

interests

R’m

Total

equity

R’m

Balance at 1 January 2016 1 292.7 18.4 11.9 (64.7) 984.7 11.5 2 254.5

Total comprehensive income for the year (6.3) 372.4 5.5 371.6

Profit for the year 372.4 5.5 377.9

Other comprehensive income for the year (6.3) (6.3)

Dividends declared to shareholders 11 (160.8) (3.9) (164.7)

Share-based payment expense 5, 16 5.8 5.8

Shares issued 24 190.7 190.7

Share issue costs 24 (1.5) (1.5)

Share options exercised 1.1 6.9 8.0

Non-controlling interests arising on 

acquisitions 31 12.9 12.9

Balance at 31 December 2016 1 481.9 25.3 5.6 (57.8) 1 196.3 26.0 2 677.3

Total comprehensive income for the year (6.4) 369.3 10.7 373.6

Profit for the year 369.3 10.7 380.0

Other comprehensive income for the year (6.4) (6.4)

Dividends declared to shareholders 11 (182.3) (4.4) (186.7)

Share-based payment expense 5, 16 6.3 6.3

Share award expense under the 

management share 

incentive scheme (MSI) 5, 17 2.0 2.0

Shares awarded under the management 

share incentive scheme (MSI) (14.6) 10.0 (4.6)

Share options exercised 4.6 8.5 13.1

Non-controlling interests arising on 

acquisitions 31, 34 (0.9) (0.9)

Balance at 31 December 2017 1 481.9 23.6 (0.8) (39.3) 1 383.3 31.4 2 880.1
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Notes

Audited

2017

R’m

Restated*

Audited

2016

R’m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 31.1 811.1 737.9

Movement in working capital 31.2 48.2 (40.4)

Cash generated by operating activities 859.3 697.5

Net finance costs paid (99.1) (81.7)

– interest received 6.1 3.9 12.6

– finance costs 6.2 (103.0) (94.3)

Taxation paid 31.3 (174.6) (160.0)

Dividends paid 31.5 (186.1) (164.5)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 399.5 291.3

Cash flows from investing activities

Additions to property, plant and equipment

– to maintain operations 31.6 (155.7) (116.1)

– to expand operations 31.7 (533.1) (245.0)

Additions to proprietary technology systems 13 (29.2) (0.7)

Business combinations cash flows 31.8 (215.6) (81.4)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 14.4 2.2

Net cash outflow from investing activities (919.2) (441.0)

Cash flows from financing activities

Shares issued – 189.2

Decrease in long-term bank loans (6.5) (43.1)

Increase/(decrease) in short-term bank loan 306.1 (75.9)

Cash movement in shares held by Share Incentive Trust 13.1 8.0

Net cash inflow from financing activities 312.7 78.2

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (207.0) (71.5)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 104.0 176.2

Net foreign exchange difference on cash and cash equivalents (0.4) (0.7)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 22 (103.4) 104.0

*  The restatement of the comparative information is a result of reclassifying the vendor claims reversal of R11.0 million from financing activities into operating activities.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2017
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performance and have similar economic characteristics are 

amalgamated.

  The revenue earned by the schools and tertiary segments 

are derived from educational services and that of the 

resourcing segment from placement fees. The major 

sources of revenue are earned within South Africa.

  Interest received, finance costs and taxation are assessed 

by the chief operating decision maker at a total group level 

and not considered separately at a segmental level.

3.4  Basis of consolidation

  The consolidated financial statements incorporate the 

financial statements of the company and entities (including 

special purpose entities) controlled by the company (its 

subsidiaries). Control is achieved when the company:

•   has power over the investee;

•   is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its 

involvement with the investee; and

•   has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

  Where an acquisition is achieved through a purchase of 

shares in a company, control is usually achieved when the 

shares are transferred into the name of the company. 

Where an acquisition is achieved through the purchase of 

assets, control is achieved either when all conditions 

precedent have been met or when the transfer of the land 

and buildings has been achieved.

  Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed 

of during the year are included in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and statement of other 

comprehensive income from the effective date of 

acquisition and up to the effective date of disposal, as 

appropriate. Profit or loss and each component of the 

other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners 

of the company and to the non-controlling interests.

  When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial 

statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting 

policies in line with those used by other members of the 

group. The material change that was made to acquisitions 

during the year related to revenue smoothing in line with 

the stage of completion method of recognising revenue 

for the provision of services.

  All intra-group transactions, balances, income and 

expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

  Changes in the group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries 

that do not result in the group losing control over the 

subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The 

carrying amounts of the group’s interests and the non-

controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in 

their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference 

between the amount by which the non-controlling 

interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration 

paid or received is recognised directly in equity and 

attributed to owners of the company.

1.  General information

  ADvTECH Limited is a limited company incorporated in 

South Africa.

  The principal business activities are the provision of 

education, training and staff placement in South Africa and 

other African countries.

2.  Adoption of new and revised standards

  During the current year, the group adopted the following 

standard which is effective for annual reporting periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2017:

•   IAS 7: Statement of Cash Flows (Disclosure Initiative: 

Amendments requiring entities to disclose information 

about changes in their financing liabilities. The 

additional disclosures will help investors to evaluate 

changes in liabilities arising from financing activities, 

including changes from cash flows and non-cash 

changes (such as foreign exchange gains or losses).

  The remaining standards, amendments and interpretations, 

which became effective in the period ended 31 December 

2017 were assessed for applicability to the group and 

management concluded that they were not applicable to 

the business of the group and consequently have had no 

impact.

3.  Significant accounting policies

  The accounting policies below apply to the consolidated 

and separate financial statements (hereafter referred to as 

financial statements).

3.1  Statement of compliance

  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance 

with the requirements of the JSE Listings Requirements 

and with International Financial Reporting Standards 

(IFRSs), the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as issued by 

the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial 

Reporting Pronouncements as issued by the Financial 

Reporting Standards Council as well as the requirements of 

the Companies Act of South Africa.

3.2  Basis of preparation

  The financial statements have been prepared on the 

historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain 

financial instruments.

  The principal accounting policies adopted are set out 

below. These were consistently applied in the previous 

year.

3.3  Segmental reporting

  The group’s operating segments are determined by 

reference to the level of operating results regularly 

reviewed by the chief operating decision maker to make 

decisions about resources to be allocated and for which 

discrete financial information is available. Operating 

segments which exhibit similar long-term financial 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017
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  Business combinations that took place prior to 1 January 

2010 were accounted for in accordance with the previous 

version of IFRS 3.

3.6  Goodwill

  Goodwill arising on the acquisition of a subsidiary or a 

jointly controlled entity represents the excess of the cost of 

acquisition over the group’s interest in the net fair value of 

the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of 

the subsidiary or jointly controlled entity recognised at the 

date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised as an 

asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any 

accumulated impairment losses.

  For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated 

to each of the group’s cash-generating units expected to 

benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-

generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are 

tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when 

there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less 

than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss 

is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 

goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets 

of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of 

each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for 

goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. Goodwill 

is assessed at each statement of financial position date for 

impairment.

  On disposal of a subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity, the 

attributable amount of goodwill is included in the 

determination of the profit or loss on disposal.

  Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the group’s share 

of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and 

contingent liabilities of the entity recognised at the date of 

acquisition is recognised as goodwill. Goodwill is included 

within the carrying amount of the investment and is 

assessed for impairment as part of the investment. Any 

excess of the group’s share of the net fair value of the 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over 

the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

3.7  Revenue recognition

  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration 

received or receivable and represents amounts receivable 

for goods and services provided in the normal course of 

business, net of discounts, rebates and value added taxes.

  Sale of goods is recognised when goods are delivered and 

title has passed.

  Revenue from a contract to provide services includes 

revenue received for tuition and placement fees.

3.5  Business combinations

  Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the 

acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a 

business combination is measured at fair value, which is 

calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of 

the assets transferred to the group, liabilities incurred by 

the group to the former owners of the acquiree and the 

equity interests issued by the group in exchange for 

control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are 

generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

  At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and 

the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at 

the acquisition date, except that deferred tax assets or 

liabilities are recognised and measured in accordance with 

IAS 12 Income Taxes.

  Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the 

consideration transferred, the amount of any non-

controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of 

the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree 

(if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the 

identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If, 

after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts 

of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed 

exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the 

amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 

and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest 

in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately 

in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.

  Non-controlling interests that are present ownership 

interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate share 

of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be 

initially measured either at fair value or at the non-

controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised 

amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The 

choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-

transaction basis.

  Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that 

arise from additional information obtained during the 

“measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year 

from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances 

that existed at the acquisition date.

  If the initial accounting for a business combination is 

incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which 

the combination occurs, the group reports provisional 

amounts for the items for which the accounting is 

incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted 

during the measurement period (see above), or additional 

assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information 

obtained about facts and circumstances that existed at the 

acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the 

amounts recognised at that date.
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  Goodwill and fair value adjustments to identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities assumed through acquisition of a 

foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of the 

foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange 

prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange 

differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive 

income.

3.10  Borrowing costs

  Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 

construction or production of qualifying assets, which are 

assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to 

get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the 

cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 

substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment 

income earned on the temporary investment of specific 

borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets 

is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 

capitalisation.

  All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in 

the period in which they are incurred.

3.11  Retirement benefit costs

  The group operates pension and provident funds to which 

employees from certain defined divisions belong. Both 

funds are defined contribution plans and do not require to 

be actuarially valued.

  These plans are governed by the Pension Fund Act of 1956.

  Current contributions to the pension and provident funds 

are expensed when they become payable.

  The group has no liabilities in respect of post-retirement 

medical aid contributions or benefits.

3.12  Share-based payments

  The group issues equity-settled share-based payments to 

certain employees under the share option scheme. These 

equity-settled share-based payments are measured at fair 

value (excluding the effect of non-market-based vesting 

conditions) at the grant date. The fair value determined at 

the grant date of the equity-settled share-based payments 

is expensed on the straight-line basis over the vesting 

period with a corresponding movement in the share 

reserve, based on the group’s estimate of the shares that 

will eventually vest and adjust for the effect of non-market-

based vesting conditions.

  The fair value is measured using the Bermudan Binomial 

model. The expected life used in the model has been 

adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the 

effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 

behavioural considerations.

  The group also issues equity-settled share-based payments 

to certain employees under the Management Share 

Incentive (MSI) scheme. These equity-settled share-based 

payments are measured at fair value (excluding the effect 

3.7  Revenue recognition (continued)

  Revenue from tuition fees is recognised on a straight-line 

basis over the period that the service is to be rendered. 

Revenue from placement fees is recognised as and when 

services are rendered.

  Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to 

the principal amount outstanding and at the effective 

interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly 

discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 

expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net 

carrying amount.

  Dividend income from investments is recognised when 

the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been 

established.

3.8  Leasing

  Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms 

of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 

operating leases.

  Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense 

on the straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

3.9  Foreign currencies

  The individual financial statements of each group entity are 

presented in the currency of the primary economic 

environment in which the entity operates (its functional 

currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial 

statements, the results and financial position of each entity 

are expressed in currency units, which is the functional 

currency of the company, and the presentation currency 

for the consolidated financial statements.

  In preparing the financial statements of the group and 

individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the 

entity’s functional currency (foreign currencies) are 

recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates 

of the transactions. At each statement of financial position 

date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies 

are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the statement of 

financial position date.

  Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary 

items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are 

recognised in profit or loss for the period.

  For the purposes of presenting these consolidated financial 

statements, the assets and liabilities of the group’s foreign 

operations are translated into currency units using 

exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting 

period. Income and expense items are translated at the 

average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange 

rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which 

case the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions are 

used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in 

other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 

(and attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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taxation rates (and taxation laws) that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the statement of financial 

position date. Deferred taxation is charged or credited to 

profit or loss, except when it relates to items charged or 

credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred 

taxation is also dealt with in equity.

  Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are offset when 

there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 

taxation assets against current taxation liabilities and when 

they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 

authority and the group intends to settle its current 

taxation assets and liabilities on a net basis.

3.14  Earnings per share

  Basic earnings per share

  Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit 

attributable to owners of the company by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, 

net of shares repurchased and the group’s interest in its 

own ordinary shares.

  Diluted earnings per share

  For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares in issue, net of shares 

repurchased, is adjusted for the dilutive effect of potential 

ordinary shares. Potential ordinary shares are treated as 

dilutive when their conversion to ordinary shares would 

decrease basic earnings per share.

  Headline earnings per share and normalised earnings 
per share

  The presentation of headline earnings per share is 

mandated under the JSE Listings Requirements and is 

calculated in accordance with Circular 2/2015 – Headline 

Earnings, as issued by the South African Institute of 

Chartered Accountants.

  Normalised earnings is a non-IFRS measure and excludes 

the impact of certain non-operational income and expense 

items from reported headline earnings. It is included to 

provide an additional basis on which to measure the 

group’s normalised earnings performance. The effect of the 

reported fraud for prior years that have been included in 

the current year results and corporate action costs relating 

to acquisitions have been adjusted in the calculation of 

normalised earnings. In the prior year, the benefit of the 

litigation settlement was also adjusted in the calculation of 

normalised earnings.

of non-market-based vesting conditions) at the grant date. 

The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-

settled share-based payments is expensed over the vesting 

period with a corresponding movement in the share 

reserve, based on the group’s estimate of the shares that 

will eventually vest. The number of shares that will 

eventually vest fluctuates based on performance against 

pre-defined performance targets, that includes no market 

related vesting conditions.

3.13  Taxation

  Income taxation expense represents the sum of the 

taxation currently payable and deferred taxation.

  Current taxation

  The taxation currently payable is based on taxable profit for 

the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the 

statement of profit or loss because it excludes items of 

income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other 

years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or 

deductible. The group’s liability for current taxation is 

calculated using taxation rates that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted by the statement of financial 

position date.

  Deferred taxation

  Deferred taxation is recognised on differences between 

the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial 

statements and the corresponding taxation base used in 

the computation of taxable profit. Deferred taxation 

liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary 

differences and deferred taxation assets are recognised to 

the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be 

available against which deductible temporary differences 

can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised 

if the temporary differences arise from goodwill or from 

the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) 

of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects 

neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

  The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed 

at each statement of financial position date and reduced to 

the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 

taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the 

asset to be recovered.

  Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the 

taxation rates that are expected to apply in the period in 

which the liability is settled or the asset realised, based on 
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3.18 Inventories

   Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 

value. Inventory balances at year end consist mostly of 

books. These are carried as inventory and expensed when 

provided to students.

3.19  Provisions

  Provisions are recognised when the group has a present 

legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, 

and it is probable that the group will be required to settle 

that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ 

best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 

obligation at the statement of financial position date, and 

are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

3.20  Share purchases

  The ADvTECH Limited Share Incentive Trust holds shares in 

the company to be used for the settlement of its obligations 

under its share incentive scheme. Shares held are offset 

against share capital.

3.21  Financial instruments

  Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on 

the group’s statement of financial position when the group 

becomes a partner to the contractual provisions of the 

instrument. They are measured initially at fair value, being 

the transaction price. The subsequent accounting 

treatment depends on the classification of an instrument 

as set out below:

  Available-for-sale financial assets (AFS financial assets)

  AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either 

designated as AFS or are not classified as (a) loans and 

receivables, (b) held-to-maturity investments or (c) financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss.

  The group has investments in unlisted shares that are not 

traded in an active market but that are also classified as AFS 

financial assets and stated at fair value at the end of each 

reporting period (if the directors consider that the fair 

value can be reliably measured).

  AFS equity investments that do not have a quoted market 

price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be 

reliably measured are measured at cost less any identified 

impairment losses at the end of each reporting period.

  Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in 

profit or loss when the group’s right to receive the dividends 

is established.

  Loans and receivables

  Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method less any impairment. 

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective 

interest rate, except for short-term receivables where the 

recognition of interest would be immaterial. Appropriate 

allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are 

recognised in profit or loss when there is objective 

3.15  Property, plant and equipment

  Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost 

less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment. 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation is calculated on the 

straight-line basis at rates that will reduce the cost of the 

assets to their estimated residual values over their expected 

useful lives. The depreciation is recognised in profit or loss.

  The annual rates for this purpose are:

  Buildings 1%

  Computer equipment 25%

  Computer software 33.3%

  Furniture, fittings and equipment 10% – 20%

  Motor vehicles 20%

  Video equipment 33.3%

  Leasehold improvements Period of lease

  The useful life and residual value of property, plant and 

equipment is reviewed on an annual basis and no 

adjustments were required to be made to these adjustments.

  The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an item of 

property, plant and equipment is determined as the 

difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying 

amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

  Borrowing costs incurred relating to the development of 

properties and software are capitalised and included in the 

cost of these assets until completion, less any identified 

impairment loss. The capitalisation rate used to determine 

the borrowing cost capitalised is the prevailing average 

borrowing rate. Depreciation of these assets, on the same 

basis as other property and software assets, commences 

when the assets are ready for their intended use.

3.16  Intangible assets

  Intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation is charged on the straight-line basis over the 

estimated useful lives and is recognised in profit or loss. The 

estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed 

at the end of each annual reporting period, with the effect 

of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a 

prospective basis. Due to their nature, certain brand values 

have been identified as having an indefinite useful life on the 

basis that there is no foreseeable end to the period over 

which the asset will generate economic benefits.

3.17  Impairment of tangible and intangible assets, 
excluding goodwill

  At each statement of financial position date, the group 

reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible 

assets to determine whether there is any indication that 

those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 

indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is 

estimated in order to determine the extent of the 

impairment loss if any. There were no indications of 

impairment for the year under review.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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  Purchase price allocation relating to business 
combinations

  The group exercises judgement in determining the 

purchase price allocation in respect of intangible assets 

and resulting goodwill relating to the business 

combinations. The free cash flow method is used and the 

key assumptions involved were growth rates, discount 

rates and attrition rates.

  Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 
equipment and intangible assets

  Management judgement and assumptions are necessary in 

estimating the methods of depreciation/amortisation, 

useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 

equipment and intangible assets. The group reassesses the 

estimated useful lives and residual values of components of 

property, plant and equipment and intangible assets on an 

ongoing basis and makes appropriate changes as and 

when necessary. Indefinite useful lives are allocated to 

intangible assets if there is no foreseeable limit to the 

period over which the group expects to consume the 

future economic benefits embodied in the intangible asset.

evidence that the asset is impaired. The allowance 

recognised is measured as the difference between the 

asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated 

future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate 

computed at initial recognition.

  Cash and cash equivalents

  Cash and cash equivalents are measured at amortised cost 

and comprise cash on hand net of outstanding bank 

overdrafts and demand deposits and other short-term 

highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a 

known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant 

risk of changes in value.

  Other financial liabilities

  Loans and other payables are carried at amortised cost 

using the effective interest rate method if the time value of 

money is significant. Trade payables are generally carried at 

the original invoiced amount. Interest is recognised as an 

expense when incurred.

3.22  Critical accounting judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty

  Valuation of equity compensation benefits

  Management classifies its share-based payment schemes 

as equity-settled schemes. In applying its judgement, 

management consulted with external expert advisers in 

the accounting and share-based payment advisory 

industry. The critical estimates as used in the Bermudan 

Binomial model are detailed in note 16 to the consolidated 

financial statements. This includes estimated option exercise 

behaviour, as well as anticipated forfeiture rates.

  Impairment of assets

  An assessment of impairment at a cash-generating unit 

level for tangible and intangible assets, as well as individual 

assessments of goodwill and financial assets (including 

related provisions), is performed at the end of each 

reporting period. Individual impairment assessments of 

assets are performed annually based on technical, 

economic and business circumstances.

  Allowance for doubtful debts

  An assessment of impairment of trade receivables is 

performed at the end of each reporting period based on 

various factors including the ageing of the receivables, 

projected future settlements based on prior period history 

and other pertinent information. Management judgement 

is required on estimating such information.

  Contingent liabilities

  Management applies its judgement based on facts and 

advice it receives from its legal and other advisers in 

assessing if an obligation is probable, more likely than not 

or remote. This judgement is used to determine whether 

the potential obligation is recognised as a liability, disclosed 

as a contingent liability or ignored for financial statement 

purposes.
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3.23  Standards and interpretations not yet effective

  At the date of the authorisation of these financial statements, the following standards and interpretations were in issue but not 

yet effective:

IFRS 2 Share-based Payment (Classification and measurement of share-based payment 

transactions: A collection of three distinct narrow-scope amendments dealing with 

classification and measurement of share-based payments)

Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2018

IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 Cycle: Clarification that 

when an entity obtains control of a business that is a joint operation, it is required to 

remeasure preciously held interests in that business)

Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (New standard) Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2018

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation. The 

narrow-scope amendment allows companies to measure particular prepayable 

financial assets with negative compensation at amortised cost or at fair value through 

other comprehensive income if a specified condition is met)

Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements (Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 Cycle: Clarification that when 

an entity obtains joint control of a business that is a joint operation, the entity does 

not remeasure previously held interests in that business)

Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts from Customers (New standard) Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2018

IFRS 16 Leases (New standard) Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019

IAS 12 Income Taxes (Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 Cycle: Clarification that all income 

tax consequences of dividends should be recognised in profit or loss, regardless of 

how the tax arises)

Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019

IAS 23 Borrowing Costs (Annual Improvements 2015 – 2017 Cycle: The amendments clarify 

that if any specific borrowing remains outstanding after the related asset is ready for 

its intended use or sale, that borrowing becomes part of the funds that an entity 

borrows generally when calculating the capitalisation rate on general borrowings)

Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (Annual Improvements 2014 – 2016 Cycle: 

Clarification that a venture capital organisation, or a mutual fund, unit trust and similar 

entities may elect, at initial recognition, to measure investments in an associate or 

joint venture at fair value through profit or loss separately for each associate or joint 

venture)

Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2018

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (Clarification provided that an entity should 

apply IFRS 9 to long-term interests in an associate or joint venture that form part of 

the net investment in the associate or joint venture but to which the equity method is 

not applied)

Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration (This interpretation addresses 

the exchange rate to use in transactions that involve advance consideration paid or 

received in a foreign currency)

Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2018

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (This interpretation specifies how an entity 

should reflect the effects of uncertainties in accounting for income taxes)

Annual period beginning on 

or after 1 January 2019

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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  Given the nature of the group’s financial instruments, the 

group does not believe that the new classification 

categories will significantly impact on the measurement of 

these instruments.

  Management does not expect a material impact on the 

credit risk provision calculation as a result of the transition 

from an ”incurred loss” model to an ”expected credit loss” 

model, but the significance thereof is still being assessed.

  The group will perform a more detailed assessment of the 

impact of these changes and related disclosures.

  The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2018 and will be adopted in the year 

ending 31 December 2018.

  IFRS 16 – Leases

  IFRS 16 sets out the principles for the recognition, 

measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases for 

both parties to a contract, i.e. the customer (“lessee”) and 

the supplier (“lessor”).

  IFRS 16 has one model for lessees which will result in a 

number of leases previously recorded off-balance sheet 

being recorded on the balance sheet.

  The group has a number of leases for schools and tertiary 

premises that will be recognised on the balance sheet as a 

result of the adoption of IFRS 16.

  Management is in the process of determining the 

quantitative impact of recognising these leases on balance 

sheet, where relevant.

  The group will perform a detailed assessment of the 

impact resulting from the application of IFRS 16 and the 

related disclosures.

  The amendments are effective for the group for the year 

ending 31 December 2019.

  Other standards and interpretations

   None of the other standards and interpretations that have 

been published, but not yet effective, are expected to have a 

significant impact on the amounts recorded in the financial 

statements.

  The group intends to adopt the above standards and 

interpretations at the start of the financial period following 

the effective date.

  The effect of the implementation of the standards is 

detailed below:

  IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers

  The new revenue standard introduces a new revenue 

recognition model for contracts with customers. The core 

principle of IFRS 15 is that an entity will recognise revenue 

to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to 

customers for an amount that reflects the consideration to 

which an entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for 

those goods or services.

  The model features a contract-based five-step analysis of 

transactions to determine whether, how much and when 

revenue is recognised.

  The group is in the process of performing a preliminary 

assessment of the potential impact of the adoption of 

IFRS 15.

  For revenue derived from the rendering of services, 

management does not expect a significant impact on the 

measurement or timing of revenue recognition due to the 

nature and length of services rendered.

  It is expected that the disclosure required under IFRS 15 

will expand significantly. This will include, but not limited to 

disclosures enabling users to understand the nature, 

amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows 

arising from contracts with customers.

  The group will perform a detailed assessment of the 

impact resulting from the application of IFRS 15 and the 

related disclosures.

  The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 2018 and will be adopted in the year 

ending 31 December 2018.

  IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments

  IFRS 9 replaces the current IAS 39 categories of financial 

assets with three principal classification categories:

•   measured at amortised cost;

• fair value through other comprehensive income; and

• fair value through profit and loss.

  The IFRS 9 impairment model has been changed from an 

“incurred loss” model per IAS 39 to an “expected credit loss” 

model, which will require revision of the calculation of the 

credit risk impairment provision.

  Management is in the process of performing a preliminary 

assessment of the impact of IFRS 9 on the group’s financial 

statements and related disclosures, with specific focus on 

the above mentioned areas.
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Notes

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

4. Revenue

Tuition fees 3 445.0 2 894.9

Placement fees 636.8 449.9

Sale of goods and services 9.0 12.3

Intra group revenue (3.9) (4.0)

4 086.9 3 353.1

5. Operating profit before interest

Operating profit before interest is stated after taking the following into account:

Auditors’ remuneration 8.9 8.1

– Current year audit fee 8.3 7.4

– Prior year under provision 0.4 0.2

– Other services 0.2 0.5

Amortisation 28.1 25.3

– Proprietary technology systems 13 10.4 10.2

– Intangible assets 15 17.7 15.1

Depreciation 12 127.2 107.2

– Land and buildings 14.6 17.2

– Computer equipment 44.5 35.9

– Computer software 3.0 1.7

– Furniture, fittings and equipment 29.5 24.4

– Motor vehicles 6.8 5.4

– Video equipment 0.9 0.7

– Leasehold improvements 27.9 21.9

Total depreciation and amortisation 155.3 132.5

Foreign exchange gains (0.9) (0.7)

Foreign exchange losses 1.1 0.6

Operating lease charges 169.0 119.5

– Premises 163.2 113.5

– Equipment 5.8 6.0

Professional fees 22.4 10.8

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 0.7 1.5

Directors’ emoluments 11.8 15.6

– For services as directors 4.7 3.4

– For managerial and other services 7.1 12.2

Pension and provident fund contributions 109.5 91.8

Share-based payment expense 16 6.3 5.8

Management share incentive scheme expense (MSI) 17 2.0 –

Staff costs 1 626.3 1 354.2

Total staff costs 1 755.9 1 467.4

Number of staff (at year-end) 6 941 5 916

Number of staff covered by retirement plans (at year-end) 4 260 3 717

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Note

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

6. Net finance costs paid

6.1 Interest received

Call accounts 1.7 4.1

Current accounts 1.8 0.8

South African Revenue Service and other revenue authorities 0.1 –

Other 0.3 7.7

3.9 12.6

6.2 Finance costs

Bank loans (96.1) (92.4)

Bank loans facility fees (1.4) (1.4)

Current accounts overdraft (3.2) –

South African Revenue Service and other revenue authorities (0.2) (0.5)

Other (2.1) –

(103.0) (94.3)

Net finance costs paid (99.1) (81.7)

7. Taxation

7.1 Taxation expense comprises

Current taxation – current year 171.2 156.6

  – prior year over provision (2.5) (0.2)

Deferred taxation – current year 18 (7.6) (7.1)

  – prior year over provision 18 (0.1) (0.8)

Total taxation expense 161.0 148.5

Estimated taxation losses for the group carried forward at year-end were 

R20.1 million (2016: R20.3 million).

Deferred taxation assets relating to taxation losses to the value of R3.2 million 

(2016: R4.1 million) have not been raised in the group.

7.2 Reconciliation of taxation

Profit before taxation 541.0 526.4

Taxation at 28% 151.5 147.4

Foreign taxation effect (3.2) (2.6)

Permanent differences 15.3 4.7

Disallowable expenditure – depreciation on buildings 8.4 7.6

 – other 7.0 3.5

 – foreign entities – 0.2

Exempt income (0.1) (6.6)

Current taxation – prior year over provision (2.5) (0.2)

Deferred taxation – prior year over provision (0.1) (0.8)

Taxation expense recognised in profit 161.0 148.5

Effective taxation rate 29.8% 28.2%
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Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

8. Earnings per share

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share attributable  

to equity holders is based on the following data:

Earnings

Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share 369.3 372.4

Number of shares

Number of shares in issue (’m) 544.4 536.4

Less:  Weighted average number of shares in issue held by the Share Incentive Trust and 

under the MSI (’m) (10.2) (11.2)

Weighted average number of shares in issue for purposes of basic earnings per share (’m) 534.2 525.2

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares (’m) 1.0 0.5

Weighted average number of shares for purposes of diluted earnings per share (’m) 535.2 525.7

Earnings per share

Basic (cents) 69.1 70.9

Diluted (cents) 69.0 70.8

Audited 2017

R’m

Audited 2016

R’m

Gross Net Gross Net

9. Headline earnings per share

Earnings

Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share 369.3 372.4

Items excluded from headline earnings per share

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 0.7 0.5 1.5 1.1

Earnings for the purpose of headline earnings per share 369.8 373.5

Audited

2017

Audited

2016

Number of shares

Number of shares in issue (’m) 544.4 536.4

Less:  Weighted average number of shares in issue held by the Share Incentive Trust and 

under the MSI (’m) (10.2) (11.2)

Weighted average number of shares in issue for purposes of basic headline earnings per share (’m) 534.2 525.2

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares (’m) 1.0 0.5

Weighted average number of shares for purposes of diluted headline earnings per share (’m) 535.2 525.7

Headline earnings per share

Basic (cents) 69.2 71.1

Diluted (cents) 69.1 71.0

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Audited 2017

R’m

Audited 2016

R’m

Gross Net Gross Net

10. Normalised earnings per share

Earnings

Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted headline 

earnings per share 369.8 373.5

Items excluded from normalised earnings per share 43.4 35.0 (49.1) (41.2)

Litigation costs – – 2.3 2.3

Corporate and financing costs

Corporate action costs 12.3 12.3 1.3 1.3

Facility initiation costs – – 0.7 0.5

Fraud adjustments

Adjustments relating to 2016* 24.4 17.8 (24.4) (17.8)

Adjustments relating to 2015* 6.7 4.9 – –

Litigation settlement

Settlement received – – (18.0) (18.0)

Reversal of provision for counterclaim – – (5.5) (5.5)

Reversal of interest on provision for counterclaim – – (5.5) (4.0)

Earnings for the purpose of normalised earnings per share 404.8 332.3

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

Number of shares

Number of shares in issue (’m) 544.4 536.4

Less:  Weighted average number of shares in issue held by the Share Incentive Trust and 

under the MSI (’m) (10.2) (11.2)

Weighted average number of shares in issue for purposes of basic normalised earnings per share (’m) 534.2 525.2

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares (’m) 1.0 0.5

Weighted average number of shares for purposes of diluted normalised earnings per share (’m) 535.2 525.7

Normalised earnings per share

Basic (cents) 75.8 63.3

Diluted (cents) 75.6 63.2

*  The reported fraud amounting to R48.1 million which was perpetrated over a three year period, was accounted for in the current financial year. Normalised earnings 
has been adjusted by re-allocating the impact of this occurrence to the accounting periods to which it relates. The 2016 normalised profit has been adjusted 
downwards to account for the overstatement that resulted in that year. The 2017 normalised profit has been adjusted upwards to remove the effects relating to the 
2015 and 2016 periods, and therefore only reflects the effect of the fraud that relates to the 2017 financial year.
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Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

11. Dividends

Final dividend No 15 paid on 18 April 2017: 19.0 cents per share 103.4 90.2

(2016: No 13: 17.0 cents per share)

Interim dividend No 16 paid on 11 September 2017: 15.0 cents per share 81.7 73.6

(2016: No 14: 13.5 cents per share)

Dividend attributable to treasury shares (2.8) (3.0)

Dividends declared by subsidiaries to non-controlling interests 4.4 3.9

Total dividends 186.7 164.7

On 16 March 2018 the directors declared a dividend No 17 of 19.0 cents per share payable on 

16 April 2018 to shareholders registered on the record date, being 13 April 2018.

Analysis of dividends per share declared:

Interim (cents) 15.0 13.5

Final (cents) 19.0 19.0

34.0 32.5

Cost

1 Jan 2017

R’m

Additions

R’m

Acquisitions 

through 

business 

combinations

R’m

Disposals

R’m

Foreign 

currency 

effect

R’m

31 Dec 

2017

R’m

12. Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings 2 488.3 521.0 169.4 (13.7) (1.9) 3 163.1

Computer equipment 243.0 70.5 2.0 (12.6) – 302.9

Computer software 12.2 2.4 – (1.8) – 12.8

Furniture, fittings and equipment 232.0 42.3 6.0 (4.8) (0.1) 275.4

Motor vehicles 44.4 7.4 1.1 (1.0) – 51.9

Video equipment 4.2 0.8 – – – 5.0

Leasehold improvements 350.7 44.4 – (1.5) – 393.6

3 374.8 688.8 178.5 (35.4) (2.0) 4 204.7

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

1 Jan 2017

R’m

Depreciation

R’m

Acquisitions 

through 

business 

combinations

R’m

Disposals

R’m

Foreign 

currency 

effect

R’m

31 Dec 

2017

R’m

Land and buildings 114.3 14.6 – (0.6) (0.1) 128.2

Computer equipment 163.4 44.5 – (11.7) – 196.2

Computer software 6.1 3.0 – (1.3) – 7.8

Furniture, fittings and equipment 158.2 29.5 – (4.3) – 183.4

Motor vehicles 28.1 6.8 – (1.0) – 33.9

Video equipment 3.1 0.9 – – – 4.0

Leasehold improvements 112.9 27.9 – (1.4) – 139.4

586.1 127.2 – (20.3) (0.1) 692.9

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017  (continued)



89ANNUAL INTEGRATED REPORT 2017

12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Net book value

31 Dec 

2017

R’m

31 Dec 

2016

R’m

Land and buildings 3 034.9 2 374.0
Computer equipment 106.7 79.6
Computer software 5.0 6.1
Furniture, fittings and equipment 92.0 73.8
Motor vehicles 18.0 16.3
Video equipment 1.0 1.1
Leasehold improvements 254.2 237.8

3 511.8 2 788.7

  Included in land and buildings is an amount of R38.9 million (2016: R95.6 million) which relates to buildings that are still in 

progress.

  Included in leasehold improvements is an amount of R2.0 million (2016: R3.7 million ) which relates to improvements that are still 

in progress.

  The amount of borrowing costs capitalised to current year additions amounted to R5.4 million (2016: R4.4 million) at a capitalisation 

rate of 8.9% (2016: 8.9%).

  The group valued its fixed property during 2016. The valuation was conducted by the Quadrant Property Group, a group of 

independent sworn valuators. Their valuation based on present land use amounted to R3 384.1 million, a premium of R1 010.1 

million or 43% over book value as at December 2016. This valuation does not include the fixed property acquired as part of the 

current year business combinations, which have been recognised at fair value.

  Valuations are done on a triennial basis with the next valuation due in 2019.

  Land and buildings having a net book value of R1 214.6 million (2016: R1 239.1 million) have been pledged as security for the 

banking facilities (refer to notes 25 and 26).

Cost

1 Jan 2016

R’m

Additions

R’m

Acquisitions 

through 

business 

combinations

R’m

Disposals

R’m

Foreign 

currency 

effect

R’m

Reallocation

R’m

31 Dec 

2016

R’m

Land and buildings 2 248.5 245.1 – – (5.3) – 2 488.3

Computer equipment 194.1 53.9 1.5 (6.6) – 0.1 243.0

Computer software 8.0 4.5 0.6 (0.9) – – 12.2

Furniture, fittings and 

equipment 200.3 29.5 2.2 (2.6) (0.1) 2.7 232.0

Motor vehicles 36.8 9.2 – (1.6) – – 44.4

Video equipment 4.1 0.6 – (0.5) – – 4.2

Leasehold improvements 340.1 18.3 0.8 (5.7) – (2.8) 350.7

3 031.9 361.1 5.1 (17.9) (5.4) – 3 374.8
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12. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Accumulated depreciation and impairment

1 Jan 2016

R’m

Depreciation

R’m

Acquisitions

through

business

combinations

R’m

Disposals

R’m

Foreign

currency

effect

R’m

Reallocation

R’m

31 Dec 

2016

R’m

Land and buildings 97.2 17.2 – – (0.1) – 114.3

Computer equipment 133.5 35.9 – (6.1) – 0.1 163.4

Computer software 5.2 1.7 – (0.8) – – 6.1

Furniture, fittings and 

equipment 136.1 24.4 – (2.4) – 0.1 158.2

Motor vehicles 24.3 5.4 – (1.6) – – 28.1

Video equipment 2.9 0.7 – (0.5) – – 3.1

Leasehold improvements 94.1 21.9 – (2.9) – (0.2) 112.9

493.3 107.2 – (14.3) (0.1) – 586.1

Net book value

31 Dec 

2016

R’m

31 Dec 

2015

R’m

Land and buildings 2 374.0 2 151.3

Computer equipment 79.6 60.6

Computer software 6.1 2.8

Furniture, fittings and equipment 73.8 64.2

Motor vehicles 16.3 12.5

Video equipment 1.1 1.2

Leasehold improvements 237.8 246.0

2 788.7 2 538.6

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017  (continued)
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Notes

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

13. Proprietary technology systems

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year 90.3 89.6

Additions 29.2 0.7

Balance at end of the year 119.5 90.3

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at beginning of the year 45.0 34.8

Amortisation expense 5 10.4 10.2

Balance at end of the year 55.4 45.0

Carrying amount

At beginning of the year 45.3 54.8

At end of the year 64.1 45.3

The student academic management system forms the bulk of the amount above. 

Useful lives of between six and ten years are used in the calculation of amortisation 

on a straight-line basis.

Included in proprietary technology systems is an amount of R27.2 million (2016: nil) 

which relates to systems that are still under development.

14. Goodwill

Cost

Balance at beginning of the year 1 170.1 1 085.3

Additional amounts recognised from business combinations occurring  

during the year 34 137.1 87.3

Acquisition price adjustment – (2.3)

Foreign currency effect (1.9) (0.2)

Balance at end of the year 1 305.3 1 170.1

  The group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

  When testing goodwill for impairment, the recoverable amounts of the cash-generating units (CGUs) are determined using value-

in-use calculations taking into account estimated discount rates and growth rates.



92 ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2017

14.  Goodwill (continued)

  Cash flow projections for financial forecasts are based on expected revenue, operating margins, working capital requirements and 

capital expenditure. The future cash flows are determined taking the actual cash flow for the current year inflated by an expected 

growth rate for the CGU being considered. Growth rates applied are determined based on past experience within the CGU. 

Growth rates can fluctuate from year to year based on the assumptions used to determine these rates. A terminal value has been 

conservatively determined and is calculated based on a growth rate of zero percent.

  The discount rates present the current market assessment of the risks for each CGU, taking into consideration the time value of 

money and individual risks of the underlying assets that have not been incorporated in the cash flow projections. The discount 

rate calculations are derived from the weighted average cost of capital and takes into account both the cost of debt and the cost 

of equity. The cost of equity was arrived at by using the capital asset pricing model (CAPM) which, where necessary, takes into 

account an equity risk premium. The CAPM uses market betas of comparable entities in arriving at the cost of equity. The cost of 

debt is based on the interest-bearing borrowings the group is obliged to service. The debt to equity ratio was determined by 

applying theoretical target gearing levels, giving consideration to industry averages and using data of comparable entities.

  Notwithstanding the conservative assumptions used in the assessments, no impairments are required. The key assumptions used 

are as follows:

2017 

 

 

Cash-generating unit

Goodwill

R’m

Indefinite life 

intangible 

assets

R’m

Period of 

projected 

cash flows

Years

Applied 

growth 

rate

%

Terminal 

growth 

rate

%

Discount 

rate

%

Schools 1 100.2 114.8 5 8.0 0.0 11.65

Tertiary 172.3 – 5 10.0 0.0 11.65

Resourcing 32.8 – 5 7.0 0.0 11.65

1 305.3 114.8

2016 

 

 

Cash-generating unit

Goodwill

R’m

Indefinite life 

intangible 

assets

R’m

Period of 

projected 

cash flows

Years

Applied 

growth 

rate

%

Terminal 

growth 

rate

%

Discount 

rate

%

Schools 974.9 96.0 5 10.0 0.0 12.23

Tertiary 161.4 – 5 10.0 0.0 12.23

Resourcing 33.8 – 5 7.0 0.0 12.23

1170.1 96.0

  Goodwill acquired is allocated to the group’s CGUs, or groups of CGUs, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the 

combination. The CGUs represent the lowest level within the group at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes 

and is aligned to the operating segments. These CGUs are used for the purpose of performing the goodwill impairment calculations.

  The directors believe that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amounts are based 

would not cause the aggregate carrying amount to exceed the aggregate recoverable amounts of the CGUs.

  The directors were satisfied that there were no impairment adjustments required.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017  (continued)
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Notes

Customer

bases

R’m

Brand

values

R’m

Total

audited

R’m

15. Intangible assets

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2016 145.8 107.8 253.6

Additions through business combinations 7.6 10.4 18.0

Foreign currency effect 0.5 (0.3) 0.2

Balance at 1 January 2017 153.9 117.9 271.8

Additions through business combinations 34 0.8 19.9 20.7

Foreign currency effect (1.0) (0.3) (1.3)

At 31 December 2017 153.7 137.5 291.2

Accumulated amortisation and impairment

Balance at 1 January 2016 43.3 6.8 50.1

Amortisation expense 5 13.0 2.1 15.1

Balance at 1 January 2017 56.3 8.9 65.2

Amortisation expense 5 14.6 3.1 17.7

At 31 December 2017 70.9 12.0 82.9

Carrying amount

As at 31 December 2016 97.6 109.0 206.6

As at 31 December 2017 82.8 125.5 208.3

 The following useful lives are used in the calculation of amortisation on a straight-line basis:

  Total useful life Remaining useful life 

 Customer bases 1 to 15 years 1 to 13 years 

 Brand values 3 to 10 years, indefinite life 1 to 10 years, indefinite life 

  The brand value of various schools have a life span in excess of 20 years and therefore an indefinite period of amortisation was 

selected. The carrying amount of these assets is R114.8 million (2016: R96.0 million). Refer to note 14 for details of the assumptions 

applied in assessing the indefinite useful life intangible assets for impairment.

16.  ADvTECH share incentive scheme

  Certain employees and executive directors are eligible to participate in the scheme. The option offer value is the closing price at 

which shares are traded on the JSE Limited on the trading day immediately preceding the offer date. Share options accepted by 

participants are exercisable at intervals of two, four and six years after the offer date. On exercise of the options, the participant 

pays the Share Incentive Trust an amount equal to the offer price multiplied by the number of options exercised. Except for 

exceptional circumstances, if a participant leaves the employ of the group prior to exercising the options, the options lapse. 

Variations to the vesting periods are possible on issue with the written consent of the remuneration committee of the board and 

the trustees of the trust. No new options will be granted under this scheme as it has been replaced by the MSI.

Date options granted

Expiry date

year ending

Exercise price

of outstanding

options

(cents)

Weighted average

estimated

contractual life

(years)

Fair value at

grant date

(cents)

30 November 2011 31 Dec 2017 575  4.0 145

7 December 2012 31 Dec 2018 580 3.8 137

21 October 2013 31 Dec 2019 664  4.3 176

2 October 2014 31 Dec 2020  820  4.2 235

19 November 2015 31 Dec 2021  1 260  3.8  423 

20 October 2016 31 Dec 2022  1 696  3.5  597 

6 March 2017 31 Dec 2023  1 859  3.2  646 
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Number

of share

options

Weighted

average

exercise

price

(cents)

Number

of share

options

Weighted

average

exercise

price

(cents)

Reconciliation of options 2017 2016

16. ADvTECH share incentive scheme (continued)

Options outstanding on 1 January 8 314 769 1 161 7 835 551 905

Add – Options granted during the year 41 100 1 859 2 399 800 1 696

Less – Exercised (1 514 702) 867 (1 237 582) 650

         – Lapsed (2 072 604) 1 381 (683 000) 1 036

Options outstanding at 31 December 4 768 563 1 165 8 314 769 1 161

   As at 31 December 2017 there were 96 (2016: 103) participants (including executive directors) in the ADvTECH share incentive 

scheme.

Number of shares Loan receivable

R’m

Reconciliation of shares owned 2017 2016 2017 2016

Shares owned by the trust as at 1 January 10 319 590 11 557 172 57.8 64.7

Less – Shares transferred to MSI (Refer to note 17) (1 781 288) – (10.0) –

        – Options exercised during the year (1 514 702) (1 237 582) (8.5) (6.9)

Shares owned by the trust at 31 December 7 023 600 10 319 590 39.3 57.8

 The groups of persons to whom the shares will be allocated by the trust have been identified.

 The loan receivable from the trust is unsecured, interest free and has no fixed terms of repayment.

 The loan is eliminated on a group basis but is reflected in the company annual financial statements.

  The fair values relating to the share option expense were calculated using the Bermudan Binomial model. The inputs into the 

model of options granted during the year were as follows:

2017 2016

Weighted average exercise price (cents) 1 859 1 696

Expected volatility 23% 23%

Expected life 5.2 years 5.8 years

Risk free rate 9% 9%

Expected dividend yield 2% 2%

  Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the company’s share price over the previous six years. 

The expected life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, 

exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

  The group recognised total expenses of R6.3 million (2016: R5.8 million) related to the share incentive scheme during the year.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017  (continued)
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17.  ADvTECH management Share Incentive Scheme (MSI)

  Certain employees and executive directors are eligible to participate in the scheme. Share awards accepted by participants vests three 

years after the offer date subject to certain performance and retention criteria being met. Participants that were in the ADvTECH share 

incentive scheme had to forfeit any share options that would have vested in 2020 and after to be able to take up the share awards in 

the new MSI. The MSI was treated as a modification of the previous share incentive scheme as the participants of this scheme were 

also participants of the previous scheme. In addition, the forfeiture of the options is part of the transactions relating to awards under 

the MSI and would not have been required if the MSI scheme was not implemented. Participants will receive dividends and have 

voting rights in the three years before these shares vest.

Date awards granted

Vesting date 

year ending

Fair value of 

awards 

granted

(cents)

28 September 2017 31 Dec 2020 1 715

Number

of share

awards

Weighted

average

exercise

price

(cents)

Number

of share

awards

Weighted

average

exercise

price

(cents)

Reconciliation of awards 2017 2016

Awards outstanding on 1 January – – – –

Add – Awards granted during the year 1 781 288 1 715 – –

Awards outstanding at 31 December 1 781 288 1 715 – –

As at 31 December 2017 there were 36 (2016: nil) participants (including executive directors) in the MSI.

Number of shares

Reconciliation of shares owned 2017 2016

Shares owned by the group as at 1 January – –

Add – Shares bought from the Share Incentive trust (Refer to note 16) 1 781 288 –

Shares owned by the group at 31 December 1 781 288 –

The group recognised total expenses of R2.0 million (2016: nil) related the MSI during the year.
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Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

18. Deferred taxation liabilities

Opening deferred taxation liabilities (94.1) (98.0)
7.6 7.1

Current year temporary differences 8.1 6.7
Foreign currency effect (0.9) 0.3
Movement in deferred taxation assets relating to taxation losses 0.4 0.1

Foreign currency effect – (0.6)
Business combinations (13.7) (3.4)
Prior year over provision 0.1 0.8

Balance at end of the year (100.1) (94.1)

The balance comprises:
Deferred and prepaid expenditure (4.6) (1.4)
Allowance for future expenditure (S24C) (67.3) (51.4)
Fees received in advance 94.7 72.5
Commercial building allowance (47.2) (36.1)
Allowance for doubtful debts 35.9 27.6
Leave pay accrual 5.3 4.6
Property, plant and equipment allowances (22.3) (21.2)
Estimated taxation losses carried forward 2.4 1.5
Lease smoothing 9.5 8.1
Bonus provision 9.8 11.2
Management share incentive scheme awards (MSI) 0.6 –
Intangible assets (54.6) (55.1)
Fair value of land and buildings on acquisitions (62.3) (54.4)

(100.1) (94.1)

Deferred taxation accounted for in the statement of profit or loss:
Deferred and prepaid expenditure (3.2) 0.1
Allowance for future expenditure (S24C) (15.9) (1.1)
Fees received in advance 22.1 7.9
Commercial building allowance (11.1) (8.8)
Allowance for doubtful debts 8.3 2.1
Leave pay accrual 0.7 0.7
Property, plant and equipment allowances (1.1) 0.4
Movement in taxation losses 0.5 0.1
Lease smoothing 1.4 0.1
Bonus provision (1.4) 1.6
Management share incentive scheme awards (MSI) 0.6 –
Intangible assets 6.3 4.1
Fair value of land and buildings on acquisitions 0.4 (0.1)

7.6 7.1

19. Investment

Available-for-sale investment

Shares 12.0 12.0

  The group holds 15% of the ordinary share capital of Star Schools (Pty) Ltd, a company involved in schooling, matric re-writes and 

the supply of educational study guides. The directors of the company do not consider that the group is able to exercise significant 

influence over Star Schools (Pty) Ltd as the other 85% of the ordinary share capital is held by two other shareholders, who also 

manage the day-to-day operations of that company.

  The group has an option, which it is likely to exercise, to acquire the balance of the shares in Star Schools (Pty) Ltd after 

31 December 2017 at a price to be determined at the time in accordance with the agreement, based on the average annual profit 

after taxation for the preceding 24 months. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

20. Inventories

Books 5.1 4.4

Other 2.9 2.3

8.0 6.7

21. Trade and other receivables

Amounts receivable for tuition fees 335.2 300.1

Amounts receivable for placement fees 45.1 15.5

Amounts receivable from the sale of goods and services 0.7 1.1

Trade receivables 381.0 316.7

Allowance for doubtful debts (172.6) (135.6)

208.4 181.1

Other receivables 98.7 54.5

307.1 235.6

There are no customers who individually represent more than 5% of the total balance of trade 

receivables net of allowance for doubtful debts.

Ageing of past due trade receivables but not impaired

30 days 35.2 20.2

60 days 27.8 22.3

90 days 19.4 15.8

120+ days 49.0 65.4

Total 131.4 123.7

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

Balance at beginning of the year 135.6 113.1

Business combinations – 9.0

Impairment losses recognised on receivables 46.6 34.4

Impairment losses reversed (9.6) (20.9)

Balance at end of the year 172.6 135.6

The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base being large and unrelated. 

This allowance for doubtful debts has been determined by reference to past default experience.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates 

their fair value.

Ageing of impaired trade receivables

30 days 7.3 3.0

60 days 4.7 1.7

90 days 8.2 3.3

120+ days 152.4 127.6

Total 172.6 135.6
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Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

22. Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances  109.6  127.8 

Bank overdraft  (213.3)  (24.2)

Cash  0.3  0.4 

 (103.4)  104.0 

  Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the group and short-term bank deposits with an original maturity of three months 

or less. The carrying value of these assets approximates their fair value.

 The carrying amounts of the group’s bank balances are denominated in the local currencies of the underlying operations.

Nature of monetary item

Foreign

currency

Foreign

currency

2017

’m

Foreign

currency

2016

’m

Rand

equivalent

2017

R’m

Rand

equivalent

2016

R’m

23. Foreign currency exposure

Trade credit US Dollar 0.02 0.04 0.3 0.6

Trade credit Euro 0.01 – 0.2 –

24. Stated capital

Authorised

1 000 000 000 shares of no par value (2016: 1 000 000 000 shares)

Number

of shares

2017

’m

Stated

capital

2017

R’m

Number

of shares

2016

’m

Stated

capital

2016

R’m

Issued

Balance at 1 January 544.4 1 481.9 530.8 1 292.7

Shares issued – – 13.6 190.7

Share issue costs – (1.5)

Balance at 31 December 544.4 1 481.9 544.4 1 481.9

The unissued shares are under the control of the directors subject to the provisions of the Companies Act, the requirements of 

the JSE Limited and in certain circumstances shareholders approval.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

25. Long-term bank loans

Secured term loan 750.0 750.0

Mortgage loan 4.6 23.4

Fixed-term loan 9.1 15.7

763.7 789.1

Disclosed as:

Current liabilities 12.2 31.1

Non-current liabilities 751.5 758.0

763.7 789.1

 The directors consider that the carrying amount of long-term bank loans approximates their fair value.

 Secured term loan

  This is a five year facility repayable on 15 December 2020 amounting to R750.0 million which came into effect on 15 December 

2015 and attracts interest at JIBAR + 2.00%.

  These facilities are secured by mortgage bonds over properties having a net book value of R1 180.9 million (2016: R1 205.3 million). 

Refer to note 12.

 Mortgage loan

  This is a 10 year facility which came into effect on 31 October 2012, repayable in monthly instalments, that bears interest at 8.50% 

per annum, secured by a mortgage on freehold land and buildings with a net book value of R33.7 million (2016: R33.8 million). 

Refer to note 12.

 Fixed-term loan

  The loan is from FirstRand Bank for a period of 5 years which came into effect on 7 March 2014 and is secured by signed surety 

from Maragon Private Schools Ruimsig (Pty) Ltd and Maravest (Pty) Ltd for a value of R27.0 million and it bears interest at prime 

plus 1%.

 Refer to note 33 for details on securities on the secured term loan.

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

26. Short-term bank loan

Revolving credit facility 750.0 425.0

  This facility is secured by mortgage bonds over properties having a net book value of R1 180.9 million (2016: R1 205.3 million). 

Refer to note 12 and 25.

 The directors consider that the carrying amount of the short-term bank loan approximates its fair value.

 Revolving credit facility

  This represents a R750 million revolving credit facility that is available to the group for a five year period commencing on 

15 December 2015.

 The facility utilised bears interest at the following rates:

•  total net borrowings to EBITDA ratio less than 1.50: JIBAR + 1.75%

•  total net borrowings to EBITDA ratio less than 2.50 and greater than or equal to 1.50: JIBAR + 2.00%

•  total net borrowings to EBITDA ratio greater than or equal to 2.50: JIBAR + 2.25%

  The group has the option to make draw-downs for periods of one, three and six months and can elect to roll these for further 

periods.

 Refer to note 33 for details on securities.
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Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

27. Trade and other payables
Trade payables and accruals 362.9 321.7

Leave pay accrual 19.2 16.4

382.1 338.1

Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases 

and ongoing costs.

 The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables, including the leave pay 

accrual, approximates their fair value. The average credit period on purchases is two months. 

No interest is charged on trade payables for the first 60 days from date of invoice. The group 

has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that payables are paid within the 

credit time frame.

28. Acquisition liabilities

Acquisition liabilities 49.0 –

A portion of the acquisition consideration of Summit Colleges is settled through the provision 

of bursaries to students. The programme commenced on 1 January 2016 and runs for a 

period of 25 years. The carrying value represents the present value using a 9% discount rate.

29. Commitments

29.1 Capital commitments

Capital expenditure approved by the directors:

Contracted but not provided for 357.5 144.3

Not contracted 1 553.5 1 111.0

1 911.0 1 255.3

Capital commitments will be financed through existing facilities and working capital.

Anticipated timing of spend:

0 – 2 years 627.3 555.9

3 – 5 years 572.1 202.2

more than 5 years 711.6 497.2

1 911.0 1 255.3

29.2 Operating lease commitments in cash

Commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

Premises:

Due within one year 91.7 85.6

Due within two to five years 138.4 200.9

Due thereafter 56.6 56.9

286.7 343.4

Equipment:

Due within one year 5.7 5.6

Due within two to five years 3.8 6.7

9.5 12.3

296.2 355.7

The operating leases relate to premises and equipment with various lease terms.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017  (continued)
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30.  Financial instruments

 Financial risk management objectives and policies

  The group’s principal financial instruments comprise investment, bank and cash equivalents and various items such as trade 

receivables and payables that arise directly from operations. All financial instruments are categorised as loans and receivables 

except for investments which are categorised as available-for-sale. The main purpose of these instruments is to finance the group’s 

operations.

 Capital risk management

  The group manages its capital to ensure that subsidiaries/divisions will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising 

the return to stakeholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The group’s overall strategy remains unchanged.

  The capital structure of the group consists of bank and cash equivalents, equity, comprising stated capital, reserves, retained 

earnings, secured term loan and revolving credit facility.

 Capital projects are timed to coincide with additional capacity required to ensure facilities are utilised on completion.

 Liquidity risk

 Cash balances are monitored daily and surplus funds are placed on short-term deposits.

  Bank overdraft, secured term-loan and revolving credit facilities available at 31 December 2017 amounted to R1 954.2 million (2016: 

R1 761.4 million) of which R1 727.0 million (2016: R1 214.1 million) has been utilised at year-end.

  The table below analyses the groups financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the 

reporting date to the contractual maturity. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Capital outflow as at 

31 December 2017

Capital outflow as at 

31 December 2016

Less than 

1 year

R’m

Between 1 

and 5 years

R’m

Less than 

1 year

R’m

Between 1 

and 5 years

R’m

Secured term loan – 750.0 – 750.0

Mortgage loan 4.6 – 23.4 –

Fixed term loan 7.7 1.4 7.7 8.0

Revolving credit facility 750.0 – 425.0 –

Trade and other payables 382.1 – 338.1 –

Fees received in advance and deposits 411.8 – 287.5 –

Bank overdraft 213.3 – 24.2 –

Total 1 769.5 751.4 1 105.9 758.0

 Credit risk

  The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international 

credit rating agencies.

  The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade receivables. The amounts presented in the statement of financial position 

are shown net of allowances for doubtful debts. The group has no concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a large 

number of counterparties and customers. The group’s maximum credit risk exposure relates to the trade receivables of 

R381.0 million (2016: R316.7 million) and bank and cash balances of R109.6 million (2016: R127.8 million).

  Interest risk

  The group is exposed to interest risk on the banking facilities and bank balances as these attract interest at floating interest rates.

  The group analyses its interest rate exposure and calculates the impact on profit or loss of an interest rate shift. Should it be 

appropriate swaps or other hedging instruments will be considered.

  If interest rates varied by 1% higher or lower and all other variables were held constant the group’s profits before taxation would 

have increased or decreased by R10.3 million (2016: R9.8 million).
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30.  Financial instruments (continued)

 Interest risk (continued)

Interest outflow as at 

31 December 2017

Interest outflow as at 

31 December 2016

Interest 

rate

Less than 

1 year

R’m

Between 1 

and 5 years

R’m

Less than 

1 year

R’m

Between 1 

and 5 years

R’m

Secured term loan Variable 68.6 137.2 70.2 207.7

Mortgage loan Variable 0.5 – 0.3 –

Fixed term loan 8.5% 0.8 0.1 1.2 0.6

Revolving credit facility Variable 5.5 – 5.8 –

Trade and other payables None – – – –

Fees received in advance and deposits None – – – –

Bank overdraft Prime – – – –

Total 75.4 137.3 77.5 208.3

 Foreign currency risk management

  The group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposure to exchange rate fluctuations arises. 

Material foreign exchange exposures are hedged with a corresponding foreign exchange contract (FEC). There were no unsettled 

FECs as at year-end.

Notes

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

31. Notes to the statement of cash flows
31.1 Cash generated from operations

Profit before taxation 541.0 526.4

Adjust for non-cash IFRS and other adjustments (before taxation) 15.0 6.8

556.0 533.2

Adjust: 255.1 204.7

Depreciation and amortisation 5 155.3 132.5

Net finance costs paid 6 99.1 81.7

Vendor claims reversal – (11.0)

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 5 0.7 1.5

811.1 737.9

31.2 Movement in working capital

Increase in inventories (1.3) (1.6)

Increase in trade and other receivables and prepayments (28.3) (10.5)

Decrease in trade and other payables and provisions (4.4) (29.9)

Increase in fees received in advance and deposits 82.2 1.6

Decrease/(increase) in working capital 48.2 (40.4)

31.3 Taxation paid

Balance at beginning of the year (8.3) (11.7)

Business combinations (0.3) (2.6)

Current charge (168.2) (154.4)

Taxation on equity item (4.6) –

Foreign taxation credits 0.5 0.4

Balance at end of the year 6.3 8.3

Cash amount paid (174.6) (160.0)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017  (continued)
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Note

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

31. Notes to the statement of cash flows (continued)

31.4 Capital distributions paid

Balance at beginning of the year (0.8) (0.8)

Balance at end of the year 0.8 0.8

Cash amount paid – –

31.5 Dividends paid

Balance at beginning of the year (1.0) (0.8)

Declared during the year 11 (186.7) (164.7)

Balance at end of the year 1.6 1.0

Cash amount paid (186.1) (164.5)

31.6 Additions to property, plant and equipment to maintain operations

Land and buildings (36.5) (29.6)

Computer equipment (59.1) (46.6)

Computer software (2.0) (4.5)

Furniture, fittings and equipment (26.9) (21.7)

Motor vehicles (6.0) (6.7)

Video equipment (0.8) (0.6)

Leasehold improvements (24.4) (6.4)

(155.7) (116.1)

31.7 Additions to property, plant and equipment to expand operations

Land and buildings (484.5) (215.5)

Computer equipment (11.4) (7.3)

Computer software (0.4) –

Furniture, fittings and equipment (15.4) (7.8)

Motor vehicles (1.4) (2.5)

Leasehold improvements (20.0) (11.9)

(533.1) (245.0)

31.8 Business combinations cash flows

Additions to property, plant and equipment (178.5) (5.1)

Additions to other non-current assets (0.4) (3.6)

Additions to current assets (44.3) (67.2)

Additions to non-current liabilities 14.0 5.1

Additions to current liabilities 81.9 64.7

Additions to goodwill (137.1) (87.3)

Additions to intangible assets (20.7) (18.0)

Additions to non-controlling interests (0.9) 12.9

Cash and cash equivalents acquired 20.9 17.1

Non-cash consideration 49.5 –

(215.6) (81.4)

32.  Related party transactions

 The parent and ultimate controlling party of the group is ADvTECH Limited.

  Transactions between the company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the company, have been eliminated on 

consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.

 Directors and prescribed officers

  Details regarding directors’ and prescribed officers’ emoluments, interests, share options and MSI are disclosed in the directors’ 

report on pages 67 to 69.
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33.  Securities on secured term loan and short-term bank loan

  In terms of the group’s banking arrangement, ADvTECH Limited, ADvTECH Resource Holdings (Pty) Ltd, ADvTECH Resourcing (Pty) Ltd, 

The Independent Institute of Education (Pty) Ltd, Innospan Investments (Pty) Ltd and Nanospan Investments (Pty) Ltd have issued 

to its bankers unlimited cross guarantees including cessions of loan accounts on behalf of each other’s overdraft, secured term 

loan and revolving credit facilities. These facilities are also secured by mortgage bonds over properties having a net book value of 

R1 180.9 million (2016: R1 205.3 million).

  As at 31 December 2017 the total amount utilised amounted to R1 500.0 million (2016: R1 175.0 million) as per notes 25 and 26.

Audited

2017

R’m

34. Business combinations*

34.1 University of Africa group

A 51% interest in the University of Africa group operating in Zambia was acquired on 1 January 2017 for 

a consideration of R5.0 million.

Non-current assets acquired

Intangible assets 0.7

Goodwill 5.7

Property, plant and equipment 0.4

Other non-current assets 0.3

Current assets acquired

Current assets 2.1

Cash and cash equivalents 7.0

Non-current liabilities acquired

Non-current liabilities (0.2)

Current liabilities acquired

Current liabilities (11.7)

Non-controlling interest# 0.7

5.0

Revenue of R18.3 million and profit after taxation of R0.7 million has been included in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss.

This acquisition was made as an addition to our tertiary division in line with our expansion strategy and  

provides access to an African market.

34.2 Glenwood House

The assets and liabilities of Glenwood House were acquired on 1 January 2017 for a consideration of 

R109.7 million.

Non-current assets acquired

Intangible assets 7.2

Goodwill 35.3

Property, plant and equipment 70.6

Non-current liabilities acquired

Non-current liabilities (3.4)

109.7

Revenue of R36.5 million and profit after taxation of R6.9 million has been included in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss.

This acquisition was made as an addition to our Trinityhouse brand and provides expansion opportunities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017  (continued)
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Audited

2017

R’m

34. Business combinations* (continued)

34.3 Oxbridge Training Institute (Rebranded as Credo Business College)

The remaining 49% of the share capital of Credo Business College (Pty) Ltd was acquired on 1 July 2017 for a 

consideration of R2.0 million.

Non-current assets acquired

Goodwill 1.5

Non-controlling interest# 0.5

2.0

34.4 The Private Hotel School

An 80% interest in The Private Hotel School Proprietary Limited was acquired on 1 July 2017 for a consideration 

of R5.6 million.

Non-current assets acquired

Intangible assets 0.4

Goodwill 4.3

Property, plant and equipment 0.2

Other non-current assets 0.1

Current assets acquired

Current assets$ 1.6

Cash and cash equivalents 2.0

Non-current liabilities acquired

Non-current liabilities (0.1)

Current liabilities acquired

Current liabilities (2.6)

Non-controlling interest# (0.3)

5.6

Revenue of R3.0 million and a loss after taxation of R0.4 million has been included in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss.

Revenue of R5.0 million and profit after taxation of R0.3 million would have been included in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss if the acquisition was done at the beginning of the annual reporting period.

This acquisition was made as an addition to our tertiary division and provides expansion opportunities.

The accounting for this business combination is still within the measurement period.
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Audited

2017

R’m

34. Business combinations* (continued)

34.5 Summit College

The assets and liabilities of Summit College were acquired on 1 July 2017 for a consideration of R104.7 million.

Non-current assets acquired

Intangible assets 1.7

Goodwill 46.9

Property, plant and equipment 74.0

Current assets acquired

Current assets$ 3.5

Cash and cash equivalents 5.9

Non-current liabilities acquired

Non-current liabilities (6.3)

Current liabilities acquired

Current liabilities (21.0)

104.7

Revenue of R21.1 million and loss after taxation of R0.3 million has been included in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss.

Revenue of R41.3 million and loss after taxation of R2.8 million would have been included in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss if the acquisition was done at the beginning of the annual reporting period.

This acquisition was made as an addition to our schools division and provides expansion opportunities.

The accounting for this business combination is still within the measurement period.

34.6 Elkanah House

The operational assets and liabilities of Elkanah House were acquired on 1 August 2017 for a consideration of 

R29.0 million.

Non-current assets acquired

Intangible assets 8.7

Goodwill 41.8

Property, plant and equipment 4.0

Current assets acquired

Current assets 15.2

Cash and cash equivalents 6.0

Non-current liabilities acquired

Non-current liabilities (2.4)

Current liabilities acquired

Current liabilities (44.3)

29.0

Revenue of R39.6 million and profit after taxation of R1.0 million has been included in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss.

Revenue of R97.5 million and profit after taxation of R3.7 million would have been included in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss if the acquisition was done at the beginning of the annual reporting period.

This acquisition was made as an addition to our Trinityhouse brand and provides expansion opportunities.

The accounting for this business combination is still within the measurement period.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017  (continued)
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Notes

Audited

2017

R’m

34.7 Greenwood Bay College

The assets and liabilities of Greenwood Bay College were acquired on 1 September 2017 for a 

consideration of R30.0 million.

Non-current assets acquired

Intangible assets 2.0

Goodwill 1.6

Property, plant and equipment 29.3

Current assets acquired

Current assets$ 1.0

Non-current liabilities acquired

Non-current liabilities (1.6)

Current liabilities acquired

Current liabilities (2.3)

30.0

Revenue of R4.0 million and profit after taxation of R0.4 million has been included in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Revenue of R12.4 million and profit after taxation of R2.2 million would have been included in 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss if the acquisition was done at the beginning of the 

annual reporting period.

The accounting for this business combination is still within the measurement period.

Total business combinations

Total intangible assets 15 20.7

Total goodwill 14 137.1

Total property, plant and equipment 12, 31.8 178.5

Total other non-current assets 0.4

Total current assets 23.4

Total cash and cash equivalents 20.9

Total non-current liabilities (14.0)

Total current liabilities (81.9)

Total non-controlling interest 0.9

Total consideration paid 286.0

*  The consideration paid for the business combinations effectively included amounts which has been recognised as goodwill in relation to the benefit of expected synergies 
and expansion opportunities.

# The non-controlling interest has been valued at its proportionate share of net asset value.
$  Included in current assets are trade receivables with a fair value of R5.1 million. This equals the gross amount of contractual amounts receivable. There were no contractual 

cash flows at acquisition date that are not expected to be collected.
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35.  Going concern

  The annual financial statements of the group and company are prepared on a going concern basis as the directors believe that 

both the group and company have adequate facilities and resources in place to remain a going concern for the forseeable future.

36.  Subsequent events

  Other than the dividend disclosed in note 11, the directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance between the date of the 

statement of financial position and the date of these financial statements that materially affects the results of the group and 

company for the year ended 31 December 2017 or the financial position at that date.

37.  Contingent liability

  In terms of the sale of business agreement entered into between ADvTECH Limited and previous owners of Maramedia (Pty) Ltd, 

the purchase consideration was to be determined based on the earnings for the year ended 31 December 2015.

  The parties are currently in dispute as to whether this consideration is due. The statutory financial statements of Maramedia (Pty) 

Ltd for the 31 December 2015 financial year end indicates that the earnings target was not achieved. The seller has disputed this 

position and the matter has been referred to expert determination.

 The maximum consideration as per the contract is 2.2 million ADvTECH Limited shares.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017  (continued)
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Notes

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

Dividends received from subsidiaries 180.0 150.0

Staff costs 1 (5.5) (4.1)

Other operating income 0.1 3.7

Profit before taxation 1 174.6 149.6

Taxation 2 – –

Total comprehensive income for the year 174.6 149.6

COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 31 December 2017
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Notes

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries at cost 4 658.4 658.4

Loan to Share Incentive Trust* 39.3 57.8

697.7 716.2

Current assets

Loans to subsidiaries 4 834.8 829.5

Trade and other receivables 5 35.1 5.3

Prepayments – 0.1

869.9 834.9

Total assets 1 567.6 1 551.1

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

Stated capital 6 1 481.9 1 481.9

Share incentive reserve 14.5 (6.1)

Retained earnings 61.4 69.1

Total equity 1 557.8 1 544.9

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 7 3.2 4.4

Taxation 4.6 –

Shareholders for capital distribution 0.8 0.8

Shareholders for dividend 1.2 1.0

9.8 6.2

Total equity and liabilities 1 567.6 1 551.1

*  Refer to note 16 of the consolidated annual financial statements.

COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2017
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Note

Stated

capital

R’m

Share

incentive

reserve

R’m

Retained

earnings

R’m

Total

equity

R’m

Balance at 1 January 2016 1 292.7 (7.2) 80.3 1 365.8

Total comprehensive income for the year 149.6 149.6

Dividends declared to shareholders* (160.8) (160.8)

Shares issued 6 190.7 190.7

Share issue costs 6 (1.5) (1.5)

Share options exercised 1.1 1.1

Balance at 31 December 2016 1 481.9 (6.1) 69.1 1 544.9

Total comprehensive income for the year 174.6 174.6

Dividends declared to shareholders* (182.3) (182.3)

Share options exercised 4.6 4.6

Shares awarded under the management share 

incentive scheme (MSI) 16.0 16.0

Balance at 31 December 2017 1 481.9 14.5 61.4 1 557.8

*  Refer to note 11 of the consolidated annual financial statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Notes

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash utilised in operations 10.1 (5.4) (0.4)

Movement in working capital 10.2 (0.3) (2.7)

Cash utilised in operating activities (5.7) (3.1)

Taxation paid 10.3 – (2.1)

Dividends paid 10.5 (182.1) (160.6)

Net cash outflow from operating activities (187.8) (165.8)

Cash flows from investing activities

Effects of share options exercised on the share option reserve 4.6 1.1

Movement in the loan to the Share Incentive Trust 8.5 6.9

Net cash inflow from investing activities 13.1 8.0

Cash flows from financing activities

Shares issued – 189.2

Decrease/(increase) in loans to subsidiaries 174.7 (31.4)

Net cash inflow from financing activities 174.7 157.8

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents – –

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year – –

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year – –
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

1. Profit before taxation

Profit before taxation is stated after taking the following into account:

Auditors' remuneration 1.0 1.0

– Current year audit fee 1.0 0.8

– Prior year under provision – 0.2

Directors' emoluments – for services as directors 4.6 3.5

Staff costs 0.9 0.6

Total staff costs 5.5 4.1

2. Taxation

2.1 Taxation expense comprises

Total taxation expense – –

2.2 Reconciliation of taxation

Profit before taxation 174.6 149.6

Taxation at 28% 48.9 41.9

Permanent differences (48.9) (41.9)

Disallowable expenditure 1.5 0.1

Non-taxable income (dividends received) (50.4) (42.0)

Taxation expense recognised in profit – –
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Cost

1 Jan

2017

R’m

Additions

R’m

Disposals

R’m

31 Dec

2017

R’m

3. Property, plant and equipment

Computer equipment 0.1 – – 0.1

0.1 – – 0.1

Accumulated depreciation

1 Jan

2017

R’m

Depreciation

R’m

Disposals

R’m

31 Dec

2017

R’m

Computer equipment 0.1 – – 0.1

0.1 – – 0.1

Net book value

31 Dec

2017

R’m

31 Dec

2016

R’m

Computer equipment* – –

– –

Cost

1 Jan

2016

R’m

Additions

R’m

Disposals

R’m

31 Dec

2016

R’m

Computer equipment 0.1 – – 0.1

0.1 – – 0.1

Accumulated depreciation

1 Jan

2016

R’m

Depreciation

R’m

Disposals

R’m

31 Dec

2016

R’m

Computer equipment – 0.1 – 0.1

– 0.1 – 0.1

Net book value

31 Dec

2016

R’m

31 Dec

2015

R’m

Computer equipment* – 0.1

– 0.1

*  Nil due to rounding

NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (continued)
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Issued share capital

Proportion held
directly or 
indirectly

Interest of holding company

Princi-
pal

activity

Shares Loans receivable

31 Dec
2017

R

31 Dec
2016

R

31 Dec
2017

%

31 Dec
2016

%

31 Dec
2017

R’m

31 Dec
2016

R’m

31 Dec
2017

R’m

31 Dec
2016

R’m

4. Investments in and loans to subsidiaries

Direct:

The Independent Institute of Education (Pty) Ltd 2 2 100 100 101.2 101.2 548.3 723.0 1
Maravest (Pty) Ltd 1 000 1 000 100 100 497.4 497.4 27.0 27.0 2
Nascifon (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 – – – – 2
Maramedia (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 – – – – 1
ADvTECH Resource Holdings (Pty) Ltd 3 150 023 3 150 023 100 100 59.8 59.8 250.0 70.0 2

Indirect:
ADvTECH Kenya Ltd 2 –
ADvTECH Mauritius Ltd 123 367 –
ADvTECH Resourcing (Pty) Ltd 10 10 100 100 9.5 9.5 3
ADvTECH Training (Pty) Ltd 2 2 100 100 4
Africa HR Solutions Ltd (a) 100 100 51 51 3
Bryan Hattingh Independent Services (Pty) Ltd 1 1 100 100 4
Business Learning Systems (Pty) Ltd 1 000 1 000 100 100 4
CA Financial Appointments (Pty) Ltd 1 000 1 000 51 51 3
CA Global Finance (Pty) Ltd 1 000 1 000 52 52 3
CA Global Headhunters (Pty) Ltd 120 120 52 52 3
CA Mining (Pty) Ltd 100 100 52 52 3
CA Oil and Gas (Pty) Ltd 120 120 52 52 3
Capsicum Culinary Studio (Pty) Ltd 1 000 1 000 100 100 1
Central African Correspondence College 

(Zambia) Ltd (c) 12 344 – 51 – 4
Charterhouse Private Schools (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 1
Credo Business College (Pty) Ltd (Previously 

Oxbridge Training Institute (Pty) Ltd) 100 100 51 26 1
Elezean Institute (Pty) Ltd 100 100 50 50 4
Future Indefinite Investments 82 (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 2
Innospan Investments (Pty) Ltd 1 000 1 000 100 100 1
Kapele Appointments (Pty) Ltd 100 100 70 70 4
Knyber (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd (b) 306 000 306 000 100 100 1
Maragon Private Schools Avianto (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 1
Maragon Private Schools Gold (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 4
Maragon Private Schools Platinum (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 4
Maragon Private Schools Ruimsig (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 1
Maragon Private Schools Titanium (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 4
Maragon Private Schools Tshwane (Pty) Ltd 120 120 100 100 1
Nanospan Investments (Pty) Ltd 1 000 1 000 100 100 2
Oxbridge Academy (Pty) Ltd 100 100 51 51 1
Oxbridge Corporate (Pty) Ltd 100 100 31 31 4
Oxbridge Corporate ETD (Pty) Ltd 10 000 10 000 51 51 4
Resen Holdings (Pty) Ltd (b) 89 873 101 89 873 101 100 100 2
Resource Development International (Pty) Ltd 200 200 100 100 4
Shetland Investments (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 2
Strategic Connection (Pty) Ltd 100 100 100 100 4
The Design School Southern Africa (Pty) Ltd 1 1 100 100 5
The Private Hotel School (Pty) Ltd 100 – 80 – 1
Ubiquity Open Academy Holdings (Pty) Ltd 20 408 – 51 – 2
UOA Zambia Investments Ltd (c) 15 000 – 51 – 2
University of Africa Ltd (c) 100 000 – 51 – 1
VirtuallyHR (Pty) Ltd 120 120 51 51 3

1  Independent provider of education.
2 Investment holding company.
3  Recruitment, placement and temporary staffing company.
4  Dormant company.
5 In the process of deregistration.

658.4 658.4 834.8 829.5

Results of subsidiaries so far as they concern members of the company: Aggregate profit after taxation R369.3 million (2016: R372.4 million). 
All companies are incorporated in the Republic of South Africa except as indicated (a) Mauritius (b) Botswana (c) Zambia.

The loans are interest free and there are no fixed terms of repayment. The inter-company loans do not carry any credit risk as the 
underlying entities are profitable and generate sufficient cash to meet their obligations.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of the loans receivable approximates their fair value.
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Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

5. Trade and other receivables

Other receivables 35.1 5.3

Other receivables consist of inter-company receivables. The inter-company receivables 

are unsecured, interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.

The inter-company receivables do not carry any credit risk as the underlying entities are 

profitable and generate sufficient cash to meet their obligations.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of other receivables approximates their 

fair value.

6. Stated capital

Authorised

1 000 000 000 shares of no par value (2016: 1 000 000 000 shares of no par value)

Number

of shares

2017

’m

Stated

capital

2017

R’m

Number

of shares

2016

’m

Stated

capital

2016

R’m

Issued

Balance at 1 January 544.4 1 481.9 530.8 1 292.7

Shares issued – – 13.6 190.7

Share issue costs – (1.5)

Balance at 31 December 544.4 1 481.9 544.4 1 481.9

The unissued shares are under the control of the directors subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and the requirements 

of the JSE Limited and in certain circumstances shareholders approval.

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

7. Trade and other payables

Trade payables and accruals 3.2 4.4

 Trade payables and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for ongoing costs.

  The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates their fair value. The average credit period on 

purchases is two months. The company has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that payables are paid within 

the credit time frame.
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8. Financial instruments

  Financial risk management objectives and policies

  The company’s principal financial instruments comprise various items such as trade receivables and payables that arise directly 

from operations. These items have been classified as loans and receivables. The main purpose of these instruments is to finance 

the company’s operations.

  Capital risk management

  The company manages its capital to ensure that subsidiaries/divisions will be able to continue as going concerns while 

maximising the return to stakeholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The company’s overall strategy 

remains unchanged.

  The capital structure of the company consists of equity, comprising stated capital, reserves and retained earnings.

  Capital projects are timed to coincide with additional capacity required to ensure facilities are utilised on completion.

9.  Contingent liabilities

  In terms of the group’s banking arrangement, the company has issued to its bankers unlimited cross guarantees including 

cession of loan accounts on behalf of The Independent Institute of Education (Pty) Ltd, ADvTECH Resourcing (Pty) Ltd, 

ADvTECH Resource Holdings (Pty) Ltd, Innospan Investments (Pty) Ltd and Nanospan Investments (Pty) Ltd for overdraft, 

secured term loan and revolving credit facilities, which at 31 December 2017 were utilised and amounted to R1 513.7 million 

(2016: R1 175.0 million). (See notes 25, 26 and 33 of the consolidated financial statements).

  Refer to note 37 of the consolidated financial statements in respect of an additional contingent liability. 
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Note

Audited

2017

R’m

Audited

2016

R’m

10. Notes to the statement of cash flows

10.1 Cash utilised in operations

Profit before taxation 174.6 149.6

Adjust for dividends received (180.0) (150.0)

(5.4) (0.4)

10.2 Movement in working capital

Decrease in trade and other receivables and prepayments 0.9 8.0

Decrease in trade and other payables (1.2) (10.7)

Decrease in working capital (0.3) (2.7)

10.3 Taxation paid

Balance at beginning of the year – (2.1)

Current charge 2 – –

Taxation on equity item (4.6) –

Balance at end of the year 4.6 –

Cash amount paid – (2.1)

10.4 Capital distributions paid

Balance at beginning of the year (0.8) (0.8)

Balance at end of the year 0.8 0.8

Cash amount paid – –

10.5 Dividends paid

Balance at beginning of the year (1.0) (0.8)

Declared during the year (182.3) (160.8)

Balance at end of the year 1.2 1.0

Cash amount paid (182.1) (160.6)

11.  Related party transactions

  ADvTECH Limited performed certain administrative services for its wholly owned subsidiaries The Independent Institute of 

Education (Pty) Ltd and ADvTECH Resourcing (Pty) Ltd for which management fees of R7.0 million (2016: R6.3 million) and  

R1.8 million (2016: R1.6 million) respectively were charged and paid, being an appropriate allocation of costs incurred by the 

relevant administrative departments.

  Refer to directors’ report for directors’ remuneration on page 69.




